CENTRE FOR ABORIGINAL ECONOMIC POLICY RESEARCH



A regional analysis of Indigenous participation in the Western Australian labour market

N. Biddle and J. Taylor

CAEPR WORKING PAPER No. 45/2008



ANU COLLEGE OF ARTS & SOCIAL SCIENCES

SERIES NOTE

The Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research (CAEPR) was established at The Australian National University (ANU) in April 1990. From 1990 to 2003 the Centre's main research partner was the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission. Since 1 January 1999, CAEPR has operated as a University Centre and is currently funded from a variety of sources including the ANU, Australian Research Council, industry partners, and the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs.

CAEPR's principal objective is to undertake high-quality, independent research that will assist in furthering the social and economic development and empowerment of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people throughout Australia. Its aim is to be a world-class centre undertaking research on Indigenous economic development issues that combines academic excellence with policy relevance and realism.

CAEPR is currently Australia's major dedicated research centre focusing on Indigenous economic and social policy from a national perspective. The Centre's publications, which include the CAEPR Working Paper series established in 1999, aim to report on Indigenous circumstance, inform public debate, examine government policy, and influence policy formulation.

Working Papers are often work-in-progress reports and are produced for rapid distribution to enable widespread discussion and comment. They are available in electronic format only for free download from CAEPR's website:

<www.anu.edu.au/caepr/>

Enquiries may be directed to:

The Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research Hanna Neumann Building #21 The Australian National University Canberra ACT 0200

Telephone 02–6125 8211 Facsimile 02–6125 9730

As with all CAEPR publications, the views expressed in this Working Paper are those of the author(s) and do not reflect any official CAEPR position.

Professor Jon Altman Director, CAEPR College of Arts & Social Sciences The Australian National University August 2008

Cover page images courtesy of the Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies and CAEPR staff members.

A regional analysis of Indigenous participation in the Western Australian labour market

N. Biddle and J. Taylor

Nicholas Biddle is a Research Fellow and John Taylor is Deputy Director and Senior Fellow at the Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research, The Australian National University.

ABSTRACT

Western Australia sits poised to reap huge benefits from a super-cycle of resource exploitation. Labour demand is at an all-time high and challenges in securing an adequate labour supply are already evident. It is ironic then, that the very people whose land base is exploited to generate much of this wealth, who are often located in regions of high labour demand, and who have sizeable cohorts moving into working-age groups, are so poorly situated to share in the benefits of economic growth for want of adequate capacities to participate.

The recent release of 2006 Census data provides the basis for an update of the economic position of Indigenous people across different regions of Western Australia. This paper focuses on recent change in the fortunes of Indigenous people in the labour market and analyses these alongside changes in other population, social and economic outcomes. The findings show a continuation of regional diversity in outcomes with regions away from the south west faring worst, although overall there is little evidence of a closing of the gaps in key indicators. The indications are that strategies aimed at overcoming Indigenous disadvantage in the labour market will need to address structural issues at different formative stages in the life cycle, as well as assume a broad scope for economic inclusion and participation to cope with the growing need for employment from an expanding Indigenous working-age population in very diverse locational settings.

Keywords: Employment, Western Australia, Census, Regional Analysis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Lieutenant General John Murray Sanderson AC and Kevin J. Dolman, Department of the Premier and Cabinet, Western Australia for the opportunity to work on this report and for their helpful comments on previous draft versions. Jenny Dunne of the ABS was instrumental in producing the customised data for the publication. We also wish to thank Hilary Bek for editorial assistance, John Hughes for design layout, and Geoff Buchanan for expert proofing.

An electronic publication downloaded from <http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/>.

CONTENTS

Abstract	i
Acknowledgments	i
Background	1
Western Australia in national context	
Methodological issues: data and geography	5
Population size and composition	7
Internal migration	
Labour Force Status	
Employment characteristics	
Occupation and industry of employment	21
Work readiness and socio-economic outcomes	24
Education participation and qualifications	24
Health and employment outcomes	29
Engagement with the justice system	
Summary: Participation, the life course and policy implications	
Notes	
References	
Appendix A. Non-Indigenous outcomes	
Appendix B. Industry of employment abbreviations and full names	
Appendix C. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area	

TABLES

Table 1. Selected characteristics of Indigenous Australians or Indigenous households by state of usual residence, 2006	2
Table 2. Ratio of selected characteristics (Indigenous/Non-Indigenous) by state of usual residence, 2006	3
Fig. 1. Indigenous Region structure, 2006	6
Table 3. Population change for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenous status,2001–06	7
Fig. 2. Population pyramid for Western Australian Indigenous and non-Indigenous population, 2006	3
Table 4. Indigenous population by age group for Western Australian Indigenous Regions,2001 and 2006	9
Table 5. Inward, outward and net internal migration for Western Australian IndigenousRegions by Indigenous status, 2001 to 2006	9
Table 6. Most common source and destination regions for Western Australian IndigenousRegions by Indigenous status, 2001-06	1
Table 7. Median weekly income for the Indigenous and non-Indigenous population byemployment status for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2001 and 2006	2

Table 8. Unemployment rates and change for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, byIndigenous status, 2001 and 2006
Table 9. Labour force participation rates and change for Western Australian IndigenousRegions, by Indigenous status, 2001 and 2006
Table 10. Employment to population ratios and change for Western Australian IndigenousRegions, by Indigenous status, 2001 and 200615
Table 11. Census counts and adjusted counts for Indigenous population aged 15 years andover not employed for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 200616
Table 12. Sector of employment for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenousstatus, 2006
Table 13. Indigenous workers employed full-time by sector of employment for WesternAustralian Indigenous Regions, 2006
Table 14. Indigenous employment-to-population ratios by sector of employment and hoursworked for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006
Table 15. Dissimilarity indices by occupation and industry classification for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2001 and 2006
Table 16. Indigenous, non-Indigenous and ratio of occupation of employment for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006
Table 17. Industry of employment for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2006
Table 18. Highest year of school completed for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2006
Table 19. Highest qualification completed for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2006
Table 20. Educational institution attendance for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2006
Table 21. Indigenous and non-Indigenous population who have completed a qualification and/or Year 12 by labour force status for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006
Table 22. Indigenous and non-Indigenous population with need for assistance by labour forcestatus for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006
Fig. 3. Select social indicators across the life course in Western Australia: Ratio of Indigenous to non-Indigenous
Table A1. Select characteristics of non-Indigenous Australians or non-Indigenous householdsby state of usual residence, 2006
Table B1. Industry of employment abbreviations and full names to support Table 17
Table C1. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Perth, Indigenous Region, 200639
Table C2. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Broome and Kununurra
Indigenous Regions, 2006
Table C3. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Narrogin, South Hedland andDerby Indigenous Regions, 2006
Table C4. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Kalgoorlie and Geraldton Indigenous Regions, 2006

BACKGROUND

S ince its formation in 1990, CAEPR has produced a series of research papers tracking progress in the relative economic status of Indigenous people in Western Australia and in some of its regions (Taylor 1998, 2004, 2006, Taylor & Roach 1994, Taylor & Scambary 2005). Viewed in sequence, findings at the State level have indicated a steady rise since the 1980s in the Indigenous employment rate and a decline in the unemployment rate, with slight improvement in labour force participation. However, while tracking positively, all of these indicators have remained substantially below equivalent rates for the State's non-Indigenous population despite a long-term trend towards a closing of the gap, at least until recently. The worrying sign in recent years is that although absolute Indigenous labour force status has continued to improve, the relative gap in key indicators has stalled or even reversed. While regional expression of these trends varies somewhat, the evidence indicates that in remote regions, such as the Kimberley and Pilbara, both long-term and recent trends have been less favourable, especially when the ameliorating effect on labour force statistics of Community Development Employment Projects (CDEP) program participation is excluded.

Ultimately, of course, employment is a means to income and asset accumulation. While success here will be influenced by changing rates of employment, also of importance is the composition of employment in terms of occupational status and hours worked. What is significant to note is that improvements in labour force status appear to have had little impact on income relativities between Indigenous and non-Indigenous adults in Western Australia, which have remained firmly apart—not least in terms of income gained from employment. This has two consequences. First, it means that Indigenous people have not shared equally in the economic benefits of recent boom conditions in Western Australia, and in fact have fallen behind. Second, it means that the structural reliance of Indigenous people on state transfers for income has remained largely unaltered.

At the commencement of the twenty-first century, Western Australia sits poised to reap huge benefits from a super-cycle of resource exploitation. Labour demand is at an all-time high and challenges in securing an adequate labour supply are already evident. It is ironic then, that the very people whose land base is exploited to generate much of this wealth, who are often located in regions of high labour demand, and who have sizeable cohorts moving into working-age groups, are so poorly situated to share in the benefits of economic growth for want of adequate capacities to participate. To the extent that this fundamental contradiction and dilemma forms the basis for increasingly urgent discussions between Government and Indigenous and industry stakeholders, the aim of this paper is to make available the latest statistical information and analysis.

Census-derived social indicators continue to provide the most comprehensive and inclusive statistical basis for assessing change in the economic status of Indigenous people relative to that of other Australians. By way of inference, they also provide a means to assess likely aggregate impacts of Indigenous economic policy. The recent release of 2006 Census data provides the basis for an update of the economic position of Indigenous people in Western Australia and, in accordance with the aims of the Western Australian Government's Indigenous Jobs Forum, this paper focuses on recent change in the fortunes of Indigenous people in the Western Australian labour market. In particular, consideration is given to the current composition of demand for labour as displayed by occupational, industry and industry sector characteristics, and to key indicators of labour supply as indicated by select human capital characteristics. Since location provides an important input to labour demand and supply, the analysis is conducted at a within-State regional scale, although an attempt is made to contextualise the situation in Western Australia using comparison with the rest of Australia where appropriate.

CDEP: Community

Development Employment Projects

Table 1. Selected characteristics of Indigenous Australians or Indigenous households by state of usual residence, 2006										
Variable	NSW	VIC	QLD	SA	WA	TAS	NT	ACT	Australia	
Population ('000s)	139	30	128	26	59	17	54	4	455	
Unemployment rate (% labour force)	19.3	15.7	13.1	16.0	14.3	13.7	14.4	11.2	15.6	
Labour force participation rate (% adults)	51.2	53.4	56.2	48.0	49.3	58.6	38.9	68.4	51.2	
Employment to population ratio (% adults)	41.3	45.0	48.9	40.4	42.3	50.5	33.3	60.8	43.2	
Private-sector employment (% adults)	33.7	39.1	35.0	30.4	32.5	43.2	19.2	34.8	32.8	
Median income – Individual	296	332	318	263	254	323	215	514	278	
Median income – Indigenous households	727	763	899	673	787	775	837	1,221	791	
Home owner or purchasing (% Indigenous households)	37.8	42.3	35.9	35.9	32.5	54.1	20.0	42.4	35.9	
Average number of persons per bedroom	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.2	1.8	1.1	1.3	
Household size (Persons in Indigenous households)	3.2	3.0	3.5	3.2	3.5	3.0	4.5	3.0	3.4	
Never attended school (% adults)	1.1	2.0	1.4	2.4	3.5	0.7	8.5	0.5	2.5	
Completed Year 10 or higher (% adults)	65.7	69.5	73.2	69.3	70.9	75.0	40.2	81.5	66.4	
Completed Year 12 (% adults)	21.2	26.0	28.7	19.6	19.4	20.8	10.1	43.0	22.2	
Post-school qualification (% adults)	26.4	30.6	24.4	23.7	19.8	28.3	13.1	39.7	23.8	
Degree or higher (% adults)	5.0	6.7	4.2	4.1	3.7	4.5	1.8	16.8	4.4	

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

Biddle & Taylor

Table 2. Ratio of selected characteristics (Indigenous/Non-Indigenous) by state of usual residence, 2006

Variable	NSW	VIC	QLD	SA	WA	TAS	NT	ACT	Australia
Per cent of population Indigenous	2.25	0.65	3.47	1.77	3.21	3.70	30.42	1.25	2.43
Unemployment rate (% labour force)	3.39	2.96	2.91	3.14	3.97	2.17	5.54	3.39	3.06
Labour force participation rate (% adults)	0.82	0.84	0.86	0.78	0.74	0.98	0.49	0.94	0.80
Employment to population ratio (% adults)	0.70	0.75	0.78	0.69	0.66	0.90	0.43	0.87	0.71
Private-sector employment (% adults)	0.65	0.75	0.65	0.61	0.59	0.94	0.59	0.82	0.63
Median income – Individual	0.64	0.73	0.66	0.60	0.50	0.80	0.30	0.71	0.59
Median income – Households	0.70	0.75	0.87	0.76	0.73	0.97	0.63	0.81	0.77
Home owner or purchasing (% households)	0.54	0.57	0.50	0.50	0.45	0.73	0.36	0.61	0.51
Average number of persons per bedroom	1.09	1.09	1.18	1.09	1.18	1.09	1.64	1.00	1.18
Household size (Persons in households)	1.23	1.15	1.35	1.33	1.40	1.25	1.80	1.15	1.31
Never attended school (% adults)	0.94	1.64	2.93	2.92	5.41	2.01	12.97	1.20	2.68
Completed Year 10 or higher (% adults)	0.79	0.85	0.86	0.83	0.80	0.93	0.45	0.89	0.79
Completed Year 12 (% adults)	0.44	0.53	0.62	0.46	0.40	0.59	0.21	0.64	0.47
Post-school qualification (% adults)	0.55	0.67	0.56	0.57	0.43	0.69	0.25	0.69	0.52
Degree or higher (% adults)	0.26	0.34	0.27	0.27	0.22	0.32	0.09	0.50	0.24

http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

WESTERN AUSTRALIA IN NATIONAL CONTEXT

Before examining in detail the outcomes in 2006 for Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations in Western Australia, Tables 1 and 2 consider these in a national context by comparing select social indicators across all states and territories. Table 1 presents outcomes for the Indigenous population across a number of employment, income, housing and education variables. These results are either for Indigenous individuals or Indigenous households (that is, those households that contain at least one Indigenous Australian). Equivalent results for the non-Indigenous population are presented in Appendix A, Table A1. The ratios between Indigenous and non-Indigenous results are shown in Table 2.

According to the first row of Table 1, which shows the number of Indigenous people who were counted as having their usual residence in that state on the night of the Census, the Western Australian Indigenous population count was the third highest in Australia at 59,000. This made up about 13 per cent of the total Indigenous population counted in Australia in 2006. According to Table 2, it represented roughly 3.2 per cent of the total Western Australian population.

The unemployment rate for the Indigenous population in Western Australia at 14.3 per cent is more than a percentage point lower than the Indigenous national average. When this is expressed relative to the non-Indigenous population, however, only the Northern Territory has a greater disparity. As will be discussed in more detail later, the unemployment rate does not completely capture all aspects of the labour market outcomes of Indigenous Australians. In particular, it does not make a distinction between CDEP and other employment, nor does it capture discouraged jobseekers or underemployment. For this reason, three other measures of labour force participation are presented.

The labour force participation rate and the employment to population ratio of the Western Australian Indigenous population are both lower than the national average. This represents a significant disengagement from the labour market that becomes more apparent when the buoyant overall labour market in Western Australia is taken into account using the relative rates in Table 2. Furthermore, the Western Australian Indigenous population has one of the lowest rates of participation in the private sector labour market, reflecting to some extent the high rate of CDEP employment in a number of areas.

Reflecting this low Indigenous labour market participation, Indigenous median individual income in Western Australia is low in both relative and absolute terms by national standards. This is less the case for household income, however this is largely explained by the relatively high median number of people per household indicated by the appropriate ratio in Table 2. The Western Australian Indigenous population also fares poorly across the other household level variables representing home ownership and overcrowding.

Finally, looking at education completion amongst all states and territories, the Western Australian Indigenous population has the second highest proportion of the population who never attended school, plus the second lowest proportion who have completed Year 12, a qualification (which includes degrees, diplomas and certificates) or a degree. However, the proportion who had completed Year 10 or higher (which includes those who have also completed Year 12) was higher in absolute terms than in New South Wales, Victoria and South Australia, though still lower relative to the non-Indigenous population.

The clear message from Tables 1 and 2 is that Indigenous people in Western Australia fall substantially behind many Indigenous people elsewhere in Australia, both in absolute terms and in terms of key outcomes relative to co-resident non-Indigenous populations. Indeed, only the Northern Territory Indigenous population generally has worse outcomes. As will be shown in the remainder of this paper, however, the Western Australian Indigenous population is quite diverse and a number of the outcomes presented in the above tables vary considerably across the State. Before presenting this analysis, the following section looks in a little more detail at the data and geography deployed.

METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES: DATA AND GEOGRAPHY

The main data source for the analysis in this paper is the August 2006 Census of Population and Housing, with comparisons made to the 2001 Census. The Census asks whether individuals are of Aboriginal origin, Torres Strait Islander origin, or both. For present purposes, those who answered 'yes' to any of these are classed as being Indigenous, while those who answered 'no' are classed as being non-Indigenous and those who did not provide an answer are excluded from the analysis.

It should be noted that while census data have their advantages, there are substantial flaws as well. Leaving aside questions regarding the cultural appropriateness of many of the data for representing the circumstances of many Indigenous peoples the main difficulty relates to the accuracy of counts.

Basically, on census night the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) attempts to count all Australians. In August 2006, 1.96 million people were captured as residents of Western Australia and 58,711 of these indicated an Indigenous status. However, these do not constitute the final census figures since the ABS acknowledges that it never succeeds in counting everyone. Accordingly, a follow-up survey of 1 per cent of all households (the Post-Enumeration Survey (PES)) is conducted a month after each census to derive an estimate of numbers missed. With these estimates to hand, the ABS then adjusts its original counts (inevitably upward) to produce final estimates of the population. For Indigenous population estimates (Estimated Resident Population (ERP)), it is also assumed that some of those (127,327 in Western Australia) who did not indicate an Indigenous status on the census form are Indigenous people. To account for these, a pro rata share of the Indigenous population are produced and these are used for important public policy purposes such as fiscal allocations of Goods and Services Tax (GST) revenue, calculation of service needs, and so on.

What is important to note, is that up until the last census the PES had never been conducted in remote Indigenous communities. As a consequence, the rate at which people in such places were missed by the census had simply been assumed to be the same as in non-remote areas. On this basis, previous census rounds have applied a blanket estimate of around 6 per cent undercount for remote areas.

After the last census, however, the PES was conducted in remote communities for the first time and it revealed what had long been suspected—that the undercount of Indigenous people in such places is significant and much higher than the level historically provided for by ABS methods.

The outcomes are staggering for a rich, developed state. In Western Australia, where the undercount was found to be greatest, it was estimated at 24 per cent. Put simply, one out of every four Indigenous people resident in Western Australia is estimated to have been overlooked by the 2006 Census. The next highest rate was in the Northern Territory at 19 per cent. By applying these post-censal adjustments, the Indigenous ERP for Western Australia was found to be much higher than the raw census count—77,928 compared to 58,711. Ideally, this figure would be used in the present analysis, except for two problems.

First, translating these net undercount rates into precise numbers is difficult because they are based on a sample survey. Accordingly, they have an error rate attached to them. For example, the 95 per cent confidence interval around the Western Australian Indigenous ERP of 77,928 ranges from 66,000 to 88,000, producing a large range of feasible values. Second, even if there was more certainty, the Indigenous ERP is not yet available by age and sex and so no values are to hand for the population of working age, nor are they available below the State level. Consequently, for population levels in the analysis we are compelled to use census counts only.

ABS:

Australian Bureau of Statistics

PES:

Post-Enumeration Survey

ERP:

Estimated Resident Population

GST:

Goods and Services Tax



Fig. 1. ABS Indigenous Region structure, 2006

In the meantime, all is not lost, as the approach taken in this report is to view the census as a very large sample survey, with the key output being population rates rather than population levels. So while there is the potential to understate the number of people in a given area or with a particular characteristic, using ratios should ensure that comparison between regions and between Indigenous and non-Indigenous outcomes are internally consistent. That is, assuming the net undercount is distributed evenly across socioeconomic characteristics, both the numerator and the denominator will be affected to the same extent. Hence any rates that are calculated will be the most accurate estimate given the currently available information.

For the most part, the analysis is presented at the ABS Indigenous Region level as shown in Fig. 1. For the 2006 Census, there were 37 Indigenous Regions across Australia of which eight were in Western Australia. These are based loosely on the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission (ATSIC) Regions that were used for the 2001 and earlier Censuses; however the current structure has been changed to reflect new administrative arrangements and population structure. The major difference between 2001 and 2006 in Western Australia was that the ATSIC Region of Warburton was split and included in expanded South Hedland and Kalgoorlie Indigenous Regions.

ATSIC: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander

Commission

Source: ABS 2007:72.

		In	digenous		Non-Inc	digenous	Per	cent Inc	ligenous
Indigenous	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change
Region	('000)	('000)	(%)	('000)	('000)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Perth	18.0	21.3	18.6	1,197.9	1,335.6	11.5	1.5	1.6	6.3
Broome	4.0	3.6	-11.6	7.3	7.6	4.8	35.5	31.7	-10.6
Kununurra	4.5	4.3	-4.6	4.0	3.8	-5.3	53.3	53.5	0.3
Narrogin	9.2	8.5	-8.5	346.4	300.4	-13.3	2.6	2.7	5.3
South Hedland	5.6	5.7	0.3	29.0	30.4	4.9	16.3	15.7	-3.7
Derby	4.6	4.4	-4.1	2.3	2.1	-9.4	66.8	68.0	1.9
Kalgoorlie	5.2	5.2	0.0	45.1	42.7	-5.3	10.4	10.9	5.0
Geraldton	5.7	5.5	-3.2	48.2	45.0	-6.7	10.5	10.9	3.4
Western Australia	56.8	58.5	3.0	1,680.2	1,767.6	5.2	3.3	3.2	-2.0
Rest of Australia	343.9	388.5	12.9	15,656.9	16,392.9	4.7	2.1	2.3	7.7
Source: ABS Censu	s of Popula	tion and	Housing.						

Table 3. Population change for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, byIndigenous status, 2001–06

1 5

POPULATION SIZE AND COMPOSITION

Before looking at employment and other socioeconomic characteristics, it is important to have an understanding of how the Indigenous population is distributed across the state in absolute terms and relative to the non-Indigenous population. Table 3 shows the Indigenous and non-Indigenous population counts for each Indigenous Region at the 2001 and 2006 censuses and the proportional change in each region, together with change in the Indigenous proportion of each region's population.

The Indigenous Region that has the largest Indigenous and non-Indigenous population is Perth (which includes surrounding areas like Fremantle). In addition, this is the Indigenous Region that has had the largest growth in population between 2001 and 2006, with the count of both the Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations increasing much faster than the rest of the State and the rest of Australia. However, while Perth has the highest number of Indigenous people, it has the lowest proportion of the population who identified as being Indigenous—1.6 per cent in 2006. The surrounding region of Narrogin also has a low percentage of the population who identify as being Indigenous, albeit one which is slightly higher than the percentage for the rest of Australia.

Compared to these two regions, the remainder of Western Australia has a much higher proportion of the population who identify as being Indigenous. Indeed, the Indigenous share of total population in Derby is more than two-thirds, while in Kununurra it is more than half. According to these census count data only two of the eight Western Australian Indigenous Regions experienced a decline in the percentage of the population who identify as being Indigenous—Broome and South Hedland.

The four main reasons why populations in each region change over time are births, deaths, international migration and internal migration. Deaths are difficult to capture using census data, and international migration has only a small impact on the Indigenous population (though it obviously impacts on the





Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

non-Indigenous population). However, Fig. 2 demonstrates one reason why the Indigenous population is generally growing faster than the non-Indigenous population in most regions in Western Australia, namely the continued existence of high Indigenous fertility compared to an ageing non-Indigenous population. This 'population pyramid' shows the proportion of the Western Australian Indigenous and non-Indigenous population in five-year age ranges in 2006.

Fig. 2 shows that the Indigenous population in Western Australia is substantially younger than the non-Indigenous population (the figure for all of Australia has a similar shape). Over 10 per cent of the population is aged 0–4 years, explaining a large part of the increase in the population in the State between 2001 and 2006. Fig. 2 also shows that, for the Indigenous population, there is a relatively high percentage of the population aged 5–24. It is during these ages that people obtain the majority of their formal education and where they are most dependent on either their family or the government for income and other support. This has implications for the current provision of services in education and certain aspects of health, as well as for the number of Indigenous Australians who will be entering the labour market in the next five to ten years.

Just as there is variation in the distribution of the population by region in Western Australia, there is also geographic variation in age profile. So, while the profile relative to the non-Indigenous population follows the same general pattern outlined in Fig. 2, there are some differences across the eight Indigenous Regions. These differences will be important when thinking about the implications of the employment and education results presented in subsequent sections of this paper and are summarised in Table 4.

	Age 0–14		Age	15-24	Age 2	25-54	Age	55+
	2001	2006	2001	2006	2001	2006	2001	2006
Indigenous Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Perth	40.3	37.4	19.3	20.3	35.5	35.9	5.0	6.4
Broome	37.6	34.0	19.3	19.8	35.8	38.6	7.3	7.7
Kununurra	38.5	36.7	19.7	19.3	33.3	35.2	8.4	8.8
Narrogin	43.3	41.0	16.4	16.9	35.0	34.1	5.3	8.0
South Hedland	35.8	33.6	17.2	18.4	39.4	39.2	7.7	8.8
Derby	37.7	35.6	18.1	19.4	34.8	35.7	9.4	9.3
Kalgoorlie	36.4	35.2	18.1	19.2	37.6	36.8	7.9	8.8
Geraldton	41.1	37.7	16.2	16.6	35.3	36.1	7.4	9.6
Western Australia	39.5	37.0	18.1	19.0	35.7	36.1	6.6	7.9
Rest of Australia	39.5	37.8	18.3	18.9	35.5	35.1	6.7	8.3

Table 4. Indigenous population by age group for Western AustralianIndigenous Regions, 2001 and 2006

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

Table 5. Inward, outward and net internal migration for Western AustralianIndigenous Regions by Indigenous status, 2001–06

		Indigenous		N	on-Indigenous	5
	Outward	Inward	Net	Outward	Inward	Net
Indigenous Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Douth	1.4.1	10 Г	4.0	7.0	77	0.1
Pertn	14.1	18.5	4.3	7.6	1.1	0.1
Broome	21.2	12.9	-8.3	49.4	43.6	-5.8
Kununurra	14.2	9.5	-4.7	53.0	40.8	-12.2
Narrogin	19.7	18.1	-1.6	15.3	17.7	2.3
South Hedland	17.6	18.7	1.1	49.4	40.9	-8.5
Derby	14.8	9.2	-5.6	55.1	37.1	-18.0
Kalgoorlie	17.0	14.4	-2.6	32.3	23.1	-9.2
Geraldton	19.6	17.0	-2.6	23.2	18.4	-4.8
Rest of Australia						
(unweighted)	13.4	12.6	-0.8	26.2	21.7	-4.5
Source: ABS Census of I	Population and	Housing				

In 2006, the Indigenous Region with the highest proportion of the population aged under 15 years was Narrogin, where this group makes up 41 per cent of the Indigenous population. Given that Narrogin also has a high proportion of the population aged 55 and over, the population who are roughly of working-age in this region is quite low at a little over half of the population. Compared to this, around 58 per cent of the population in both Broome and South Hedland are aged 15–54 years. This implies a relatively low age-dependency ratio, but also means that there is potential for a relatively large pool of people of working age to remain not employed if labour demand and supply are poorly matched.

Between 2001 and 2006, the proportion of the Indigenous population aged 0–14 years decreased, with the magnitude of the decrease being reasonably consistent across the Indigenous Regions of Western Australia. Much of this decrease was made up for by increases in the population aged 55 years and over, however, there were also increases in the working-age population, especially in Broome, Kununurra and Derby.

INTERNAL MIGRATION

Net internal migration refers to the difference between the number of people who move into a region from other parts of Australia minus the number of people who move out of the region to another part of Australia. While net internal migration shows the balance of people moving in and out of a region, there are likely to be quite different implications for regions depending on the relative size of the two components. For example, the demographic composition of a region that has low net migration (that is a balance of inward and outward migration) but high turnover is more likely to change compared to a region with low net migration but low turnover.

Table 5 presents the net internal migration rate, as well as inward and outward internal migration rates, for each of the Western Australian Indigenous Regions for Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations. The rates are expressed as a percentage of the applicable population¹ in 2001 with the final line of the table giving the unweighted average for the internal migration rates across the other 31 Indigenous Regions in Australia.

Of the eight Western Australian Indigenous Regions, only Perth (4.3%) and South Hedland (1.1%) had a positive net internal migration rate for the Indigenous population. The remaining six regions all had more people leaving the region between 2001 and 2006 than arriving, with Broome (-8.3%), Derby (-5.6%) and Kununurra (-4.7%) having the greatest magnitude of people leaving on balance. Looking at the first two columns, however, a few of the regions with negative net internal migration rates (Geraldton, Narrogin and to a lesser extent Kalgoorlie) experienced a reasonably large rate of inward internal migration. However, this was more than made up for by a high rate of outward internal migration.

For the non-Indigenous population, Narrogin was the only Indigenous Region that had a positive net migration rate, apart from Perth where the rate was practically zero. Compared to this, Derby (-18.0%) and Kununurra (-12.2%) both had net internal migration rates in double digits with Kalgoorlie (-9.2%), South Hedland (-8.5%) and Geraldton (-4.8%) all losing a larger per cent of the non-Indigenous population to internal migration than the Indigenous population. Indeed, Broome is the only region where on balance more Indigenous people than non-Indigenous people left the region in the preceding five years, explaining why that was the region in Table 3 that was found to have the largest decrease in the Indigenous share of total population.

Inward and outward internal migration rates were generally much higher for non-Indigenous populations. The only exceptions to this were Perth and Narrogin. This shows that there was substantial non-Indigenous turnover, with many people changing their region of residence between 2001 and 2006. For example, in Derby, Broome, Kununurra and South Hedland, more than or close to half of the applicable usual resident population in 2001 had left the region by 2006.

Just as there are differences in the rates of migration into and out of Indigenous Regions in Western Australia between the Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations, there are also differences in where people are moving from and to. This is demonstrated in Table 6, which lists the most common destination and source regions for those individuals who migrated out of or into each region. To be classified as a 'common' destination or source, a region must make up at least 10 per cent of the population who moved out or in, with the regions ranked by the size of the contribution.

	Indig	enous	Non-Indigenous			
Indigenous Region	Destination	Source	Destination	Source		
Perth	Narrogin Geraldton	Narrogin Geraldton South Hedland Broome Kalgoorlie	Narrogin Melbourne	Narrogin Sydney		
Broome	Perth Derby Darwin	Perth Derby Kununurra	Perth Narrogin	Perth Narrogin		
Kununurra	Derby Perth Katherine Broome	Derby Broome	Perth Narrogin	Perth Narrogin		
Narrogin	Perth	Perth	Perth	Perth		
South Hedland	Perth Geraldton Narrogin	Geraldton Perth Narrogin Kalgoorlie	Perth Narrogin	Perth Narrogin		
Derby	Kununurra Perth Broome	Kununurra Broome	Perth Narrogin	Perth Narrogin		
Kalgoorlie	Perth South Hedland Narrogin	Perth Geraldton	Perth Narrogin	Perth Narrogin		
Geraldton	Perth South Hedland Narrogin	Perth South Hedland	Perth Narrogin	Perth Narrogin		

Table 6. Most common source and destination regions for Western AustralianIndigenous Regions by Indigenous status, 2001–06

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

The most obvious finding from Table 6 is that for the vast majority of regions, Perth and Narrogin (in that order) were the most common sources and destinations for non-Indigenous migrants. For Perth, most of these moved to or from Narrogin, with a smaller percentage (though still greater than 10%) moving to Melbourne or from Sydney.

Perth, and to a lesser extent Narrogin, were also common destination and source regions for the Indigenous internal migrants. However, there were also a large number of moves into and out of other Western Australian Indigenous Regions. For example, Derby was the most common destination and source region for internal migrants out of and into Kununurra with the reverse also being true. Interestingly, for the Indigenous population there were also two common destinations across the State border. Of the Indigenous population who moved out of Broome, more than 10 per cent went to Darwin and of those who moved out of Kununurra, more than 10 per cent went to neighbouring Katherine.

		Indig	enous		Non-Indigenous				
	Not employed		Emp	oloyed	Not e	mployed	Emj	oloyed	
Indigenous Region	2001 2006		2001	2001 2006		2001 2006		2006	
Perth	210	200	610	630	211	208	689	758	
Broome	214	205	232	366	218	216	742	800	
Kununurra	210	202	236	248	198	207	765	875	
Narrogin	213	207	459	507	214	220	600	660	
South Hedland	209	203	454	588	87	81	1,008	1,177	
Derby	207	207	225	227	216	203	775	862	
Kalgoorlie	194	199	301	316	195	186	766	871	
Geraldton	215	216	461	520	213	214	618	679	
Western Australia	209	204	410	485	211	210	675	748	
Rest of Australia	207	202	512	525	216	212	686	720	

Table 7. Median weekly income for the Indigenous and non-Indigenouspopulation by employment status for Western Australian Indigenous Regions,2001 and 2006^a

Note: a. In \$2006.

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

This section has shown that for all Indigenous Regions in Western Australia, apart from Broome and South Hedland, there was an increase in the count of the population who identified as being Indigenous between 2001 and 2006. The relatively high fertility rate reflected in Fig. 2 and Table 4 was an explanation for some of this general increase, as was the difference in internal migration rates.

A number of the demographic changes revealed here are likely to be related to changes in labour market outcomes. All else being equal, relative employment conditions are likely to have an impact on whether someone chooses to change their region of residence and where they move to (Biddle & Hunter 2006). Alternatively, areas with large population increases or declines, especially of working-age population, are likely to experience either an increase in labour supply or a decrease in labour demand respectively. These issues are explored in the following section.

LABOUR FORCE STATUS

One of the major determinants of socioeconomic status is whether or not an individual is employed and, for those who are, what type of job they hold. These indicators will be explored in due course. Beforehand, it is worth demonstrating the economic impact of labour force status. This is revealed in Table 7, which shows the median income for Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians who are employed and not employed.

There are three important aspects of Table 7. The first of these is the large difference between the income of the employed and the non-employed population. This is much higher for the non-Indigenous population compared to the Indigenous population. For most regions, and for Western Australia as a whole, the Indigenous population that is not employed has a median income that is roughly equivalent to that of the non-Indigenous population. For the employed population in 2006 however, the difference is quite large (up to \$635 per week in Derby).

	I	ndigenou	us	Nor	-Indiger	nous	Ratio			
Indigenous	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change	
Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)			(%)	
Perth	26.5	16.2	-38.9	7.3	3.5	-52.1	3.64	4.61	26.6	
Broome	9.9	10.6	7.1	4.3	2.3	-46.5	2.27	4.70	107.0	
Kununurra	8.6	8.4	-2.3	2.1	1.7	-19.0	4.02	4.95	23.1	
Narrogin	23.4	18.1	-22.6	7.7	3.8	-50.6	3.06	4.72	54.2	
South Hedland	15.2	16.6	9.2	3.6	2.0	-44.4	4.26	8.37	96.5	
Derby	5.2	4.1	-21.2	2.9	2.4	-17.2	1.82	1.69	-7.1	
Kalgoorlie	14.4	11.5	-20.1	5.3	3.2	-39.6	2.71	3.64	34.3	
Geraldton	23.8	18.1	-23.9	8.1	4.4	-45.7	2.94	4.13	40.5	
Western Australia	18.7	14.2	-24.1	7.2	3.5	-51.4	2.59	4.02	55.2	
Rest of Australia	19.9	15.7	-21.1	7.1	5.2	-26.8	2.80	3.02	7.9	
Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.										

Table 8. Unemployment rates and change for Western Australian IndigenousRegions, by Indigenous status, 2001 and 2006

The example of Derby highlights a second important point, the difference in income across regions, especially for those who are employed. For the Indigenous population in 2006, median income for those employed ranges from under \$250 per week in Derby and Kununurra to \$630 per week in Perth. For the corresponding non-Indigenous population, on the other hand, median income ranges from \$660 per week in Narrogin to \$1,177 per week in South Hedland. Furthermore, Table 7 shows that these regional differences are not consistent between the Indigenous and non-Indigenous population. For example, Derby, South Hedland, Kununurra, and Kalgoorlie all have a high median income for the non-Indigenous employed, but a middle or low ranked income for the Indigenous employed. Clearly, this reflects variation in the occupational, and to some extent industry, composition of employment.

The final point to note is the change in income between 2001 and 2006. For those who are not employed, there has been a small decline in median income (keeping in mind that the 2001 figure is adjusted using the Consumer Price Index (CPI)). For those who are employed, however, there have been large increases in median income for both the Indigenous and non-Indigenous population. Indeed, for Western Australia as a whole, the median income for the employed Indigenous population has grown faster than that for the non-Indigenous population, pointing to some closure in the income gap for this group.

Clearly, employment is one of the key predictors of access to economic resources in Western Australia. Furthermore, Indigenous adults who have managed to obtain employment have closed some of the gap with the rest of the population, though their income is still less than two-thirds of the latter.

Turning now to examine Indigenous and non-Indigenous labour force status, we establish three standard indicators of labour force status as well as change between 2001 and 2006.

• The *employment/population ratio*, representing the percentage of persons aged 15 years and over who indicated in the census that they were in employment for at least one hour (either in CDEP or in mainstream work) during the week prior to enumeration.

CPI: Consumer Price Index

	I	ndigenou	us	Non	-Indiger	nous		Ratio	
Indigenous	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change
Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)			(%)
Perth	51.2	51.1	-0.2	65.2	67.7	3.8	0.78	0.75	-3.8
Broome	56.5	54.1	-4.2	80.5	81.5	1.2	0.70	0.66	-5.7
Kununurra	50.1	50.8	1.4	84.5	86.6	2.5	0.59	0.59	0.0
Narrogin	53.1	53.6	0.9	63.6	63.6	0.0	0.84	0.84	0.0
South Hedland	50.7	53.1	4.7	83.0	84.7	2.0	0.61	0.63	3.3
Derby	62.5	62.0	-0.8	82.5	84.2	2.1	0.76	0.74	-2.6
Kalgoorlie	51.0	53.4	4.7	75.2	76.7	2.0	0.68	0.70	2.9
Geraldton	48.7	50.7	4.1	67.2	67.8	0.9	0.72	0.75	4.2
Western Australia	52.4	52.8	0.8	65.6	67.6	3.0	0.80	0.78	-2.5
Rest of Australia	52.1	54.8	5.2	63.2	64.7	2.4	0.82	0.85	3.7
Sources APS Conce	c of Dopu	امد محاما							

Table 9. Labour force participation rates and change for Western AustralianIndigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2001 and 2006

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

- The *unemployment rate*, expressing those who indicated that they were not in employment but had actively looked for work during the four weeks prior to enumeration, as a percentage of those aged 15 years and over who were in the labour force (employed and unemployed).
- The *labour force participation rate*, representing persons in the labour force as a percentage of those of working age.

Table 8 shows that four of the eight Indigenous Regions had an Indigenous unemployment rate above that for Indigenous people elsewhere in Australia, with Geraldton and Narrogin having the highest rates at 18.1 per cent. Of the remaining regions, Derby had an Indigenous unemployment rate at 4.1 per cent that was below even the average of the rest of Australia for the non-Indigenous population. Kununurra also had an Indigenous unemployment rate that was in single digits. In each case, these low rates reflect substantial participation in CDEP.

As shown in Appendix A, Table A1, the non-Indigenous population in Western Australia has an unemployment rate that is below the national average. Although there is some variation, all of the eight regions had a non-Indigenous unemployment rate that was below that of the rest of Australia. Given the buoyant labour market conditions that these figures reflect, it is not surprising that a number of regions had a relatively low unemployment rate for the Indigenous population. However, when the Indigenous unemployment rate is expressed as a ratio of the non-Indigenous rate, Derby was the only region below that of the rest of Australia, although this reflects the heavy involvement of Indigenous workers in CDEP in the Kimberley. In South Hedland, where labour demand has risen considerably since 2001, the unemployment rate for the Indigenous more than eight times the rate for the non-Indigenous population.

The key finding from Table 8 is the fact that the Indigenous/non-Indigenous gap in unemployment rates widened substantially between 2001 and 2006 in the State as a whole and in all regions with the exception of Derby. So, despite improvements in the Indigenous unemployment rate, such has been the overall demand for labour in recent years that others in the labour force have been able to respond more favourably, and as a consequence non-Indigenous unemployment rates have fallen more precipitously.

	1	ndigenoi	JS	Nor	-Indigen	nous		Ratio		
Indigenous	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change	2001	2006	Change	
Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)			(%)	
Perth	37.6	42.8	13.8	60.5	65.4	8.1	0.62	0.66	6.5	
Broome	50.9	48.3	-5.1	77.0	79.6	3.4	0.66	0.61	-7.6	
Kununurra	45.8	46.6	1.7	82.7	85.2	3.0	0.55	0.55	0.0	
Narrogin	40.7	43.9	7.9	58.7	61.1	4.1	0.69	0.72	4.3	
South Hedland	43.1	44.3	2.8	80.1	83.0	3.6	0.54	0.53	-1.9	
Derby	59.2	59.4	0.3	80.1	82.1	2.5	0.74	0.72	-2.7	
Kalgoorlie	43.7	47.3	8.2	71.2	74.3	4.4	0.61	0.64	4.9	
Geraldton	37.1	41.6	12.1	61.8	64.8	4.9	0.60	0.64	6.7	
Western Australia	42.6	45.4	6.6	60.9	65.3	7.2	0.70	0.70	0.0	
Rest of Australia	41.7	46.2	10.8	58.8	61.4	4.4	0.71	0.75	5.6	
Source: ABS Censu	is of Popu	lation and	Housing.							

Table 10. Employment to population ratios and change for Western AustralianIndigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2001 and 2006

While the unemployment rate is an important indicator of labour market constraints, there are a number of reasons why it provides only a limited measure of labour force utilisation. This is because it focuses only on those who are actively seeking employment and who are able to commence work if they were offered a job. Consequently, those who have given up looking for work (discouraged jobseekers) are excluded from the calculation of the unemployment rate, as are those who are unable to work. Among the reasons why people may not be able to work are poor health (for themselves or someone they have to care for), studying full-time, or raising children.

These two aspects of lack of engagement with the labour market are taken into account in the labour force participation rate (Table 9). The labour force participation rate expresses those who are either employed or unemployed as a percentage of the total population aged 15 years and over. A low labour force participation rate is an indication of a relatively large number of people in the area who have either given up looking for employment or who would not be able to commence employment if they were offered a job. Once again, figures are provided for 2001 and 2006 for the Indigenous population, the non-Indigenous population and the ratio between the two.

In 2006 Derby was the only region that had a labour force participation rate that was higher than that for the rest of Australia when looking at the Indigenous population. In all other regions almost half of the Indigenous adult population were not in the labour force. Derby was also the region that was shown to have one of the highest proportions of the population aged 55 years and over in Table 4, which tends to discount a more youthful age structure as a factor in high participation. In fact, rather than demographic factors contributing to this, it is more likely to reflect administrative factors in the sense that people who might otherwise be outside of the labour force are drawn into the workforce by virtue of participation in CDEP. In 2006 as many as 50 per cent of adults in the Derby region were employed in CDEP (Taylor 2006), and the relative absence or presence of CDEP in each region is likely to be the key factor in contributing to participation rates, especially in remoter regions of the State. The point here is that without CDEP, participation rates would be lower still.

	(Census count		Adjusted Census count			
	Age	Age	Age	Age	Age	Age	
Indigenous Region	15-24	25-54	55+	15-24	25-54	55+	
Perth	2,752	3,937	958	3,624	5,184	1,261	
Broome	393	632	194	517	832	255	
Kununurra	472	690	305	621	909	402	
Narrogin	865	1,443	496	1,139	1,901	653	
South Hedland	653	1,059	379	859	1,395	498	
Derby	338	507	310	445	667	409	
Kalgoorlie	560	901	328	738	1,186	432	
Geraldton	622	990	391	820	1,304	515	
Western Australia total	6,656	10,160	3,362	8,764	13,378	4,427	
Source: ABS Census of Popula	ation and Hous	sing.					

Table 11. Census counts and adjusted counts for Indigenous population aged 15 years and over not employed for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006

For the non-Indigenous population, labour force participation rates everywhere were substantially higher than Indigenous rates (especially in Broome, Kununurra, Derby and South Hedland), while for the most part (except in Narrogin) they were also markedly higher than in the rest of Australia. Consequently, the gap between Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations as indicated by the ratios in Table 9 is striking. In Kununurra region, for example, Indigenous participation was less than 60 per cent that of the rest of the population, and this in a region where labour demand is clearly very high. Similar large discrepancies in participation are recorded in other remote regions such as Broome and South Hedland. Once again, though, the key message is that overall Indigenous labour force participation has fallen behind in the economic boom conditions of recent years, even though the gap in some regions has closed.

In sum, Indigenous Regions in Western Australia for the most part display high Indigenous unemployment rates while labour force participation rates are universally low. As a consequence, employment rates are also very low, as indicated in Table 10.

In all regions, except for Derby where CDEP looms large, less than half of Indigenous adults were employed in 2006, with Geraldton, Perth, Narrogin and South Hedland also having a lower percentage than the rest of Australia. Once again, generally buoyant labour market conditions are reflected by the fact that non-Indigenous employment rates are higher in all regions (except Narrogin) than in the rest of Australia. Of particular note are the very high non-Indigenous rates in Broome, Kununurra, South Hedland, Derby and Kalgoorlie, as these produce very wide gaps in employment outcomes. Overall, the gap in employment rates has remained static, with the Indigenous rate at only 70 per cent of the non-Indigenous rate. It is noteworthy that despite Western Australia's favourable economic conditions, elsewhere in the country this gap in employment rates has narrowed from 0.71 to 0.75.

These sizeable and continuing gaps in employment rates produce a relatively large pool of under-utilised Indigenous labour in all regions of Western Australia. Table 11 provides an indication of the scale of the issue based on those who were unemployed, those not in the labour force, and a proportional allocation of those who did not state their employment status. Because the potential reasons and responses to this pool of people varies between those who are young (who may be studying, raising children or have not developed appropriate skills) and the old (who may have retired, have poor health or whose skills may be outdated) this count is provided for three age groups—those aged 15–24, those aged 25–54, and those aged 55 years and over.

The second set of numbers in Table 11 adjusts the Census count for the net undercount discussed earlier. As there is no information currently available on the age or geographic distribution of the undercount within Western Australia, the rate for Western Australia as a whole is used for all regions and age groups. The final row of the table provides the total estimated number of people aged 15 years and over not employed for all of Western Australia.

Adding the last three columns together, it is estimated that as of August 2006 there were 26,569 Indigenous adults in Western Australia who were not employed. Over one-third of these live in Perth alone and if we add Narrogin, more than half of the population not employed are resident in the south-west of the state. Also, half of the non-employed are of prime working age (25–54 years), and their exclusion from the workforce is likely to reflect a combination of demand constraints in particular regions due to labour market segmentation, and supply constraints more or less across the board due to the low levels of Indigenous human capital that have been allowed to accumulate.

EMPLOYMENT CHARACTERISTICS

The previous section considered all of those employed as a homogenous group. However, there is substantial difference in types of employment both across Indigenous Regions and between the Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations. Furthermore, these differences influence a number of the outcomes of employment, including income and job security. One of the biggest factors contributing to this variation is that Indigenous employment has shown a relative tendency to be concentrated in government and community organisation sectors (Rowse 2002), and therefore relatively excluded from the private sector.

This reliance for employment outcomes on the Indigenous community organisation sector is significant, not only for its growth over the past three decades, but also for the fact that employment levels in Indigenous community organisations have invariably been counter to economic cycles as they depend more on government funding regimes and the flow of localised private sector monies, not least based around such initiatives as mining agreements. This dependence creates interesting and contrasting scenarios for future Indigenous employment. On the one hand, employment in the Indigenous community organisation sector via government funding is likely to decline in the future as CDEP employment, in particular, is eroded. On the other hand, the potential for such employment via agreements with the mining sector, in particular, would seem to be enhanced alongside company pursuit of a social licence to operate. Unfortunately, data regarding this important labour market sector are either scarce or dated, although it is worth noting that according to the 1994 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Survey (NATSIS) in some regions (such as Derby) this was as high as 56 per cent.

A key element of this Indigenous community sector has been CDEP. At the time of the 2001 Census, CDEP accounted for an estimated 64 per cent of all Indigenous employment in Western Australia, with a total of 8,872 participants. Since that time, participant numbers have remained more or less constant, with a slight decline from 8,872 to 8,788 at the time of the 2006 Census. Consequently, the rate of CDEP employment has declined over the past five years, however this may not have occurred evenly across the state.

Since 2006, administrative changes to the program have seen a winding back in urban centres with a shift in emphasis from providing basic employment outcomes to providing training via Structured Training and Employment (STEP) brokerage services. Nonetheless, in terms of understanding 2006 Census-based Indigenous labour force statistics, information on CDEP remains vital. Unfortunately, in recent years

NATSIS: National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Survey

Structured Training and Employment

		Indiger	nous		Non-	
	Comm.	State	Local	Private	Indigenous	Ratio
Indigenous Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	Private	Private
Perth	6.1	14.8	1.4	77.7	85.1	0.91
Broome	2.9	10.6	11.3	75.3	83.4	0.90
Kununurra	1.1	6.4	26.1	66.4	80.9	0.82
Narrogin	2.2	12.6	3.6	81.6	87.6	0.93
South Hedland	0.8	13.7	7.9	77.5	87.0	0.89
Derby	0.6	5.6	25.8	68.1	73.4	0.93
Kalgoorlie	1.3	9.1	22.0	67.5	88.3	0.77
Geraldton	2.3	13.7	7.5	76.5	84.3	0.91
Western Australia	3.1	11.9	9.8	75.1	85.6	0.88
Rest of Australia	4.4	11.9	9.7	74.0	85.5	0.87
Source: ABS Census o	f Population an	d Housing.				

Table 12. Sector of employment for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2006

public access to detailed official data regarding CDEP has become inversely related to its importance for policy analysis—a trend that has intensified since responsibility for the program shifted to the federal Department of Employment and Workplace Relations (DEWR). The census does not provide a solution to this data inadequacy, as information on CDEP employment is only captured on Special Indigenous Census Forms that are only deployed in discrete Indigenous communities, mostly in remote areas, thus preventing a full picture of CDEP participation across and within all regions. Nationally, only around half of the total number of CDEP participants are captured by the census.

Information on CDEP is important because of its association with distinct labour market outcomes. For example, as we have seen, in some regions, and especially in the Kimberley, it can be the predominant form of Indigenous employment (Taylor 2006). The CDEP program also provides mostly part-time work (Hunter 2004). According to Biddle and Webster (2007), those in CDEP employment are much more likely to work 16-20 hours than those in non-CDEP employment. Indeed, over half of the population employed in the CDEP scheme report this range of hours per week, compared to 5.7 per cent for male non-CDEP workers and 13.9 per cent for female non-CDEP workers. It is also often associated with labour intensive, mostly low skilled, work in regions and locations where alternative employment opportunities for Indigenous people are limited. Finally, it reflects, or at least it used to reflect, community priorities for defining work.

Across Western Australia, then, Indigenous workers are less likely than non-Indigenous workers to be engaged in private sector employment. While Table 12 shows that this is the case across all Western Australian regions as well as in the rest of Australia, it should be noted that this Indigenous private sector employment contains an unknown component of CDEP employment given the nature of ABS classifications in 2006. This makes precise determination of levels and relativities in industry sector categories rather difficult.

However, Table 12 also shows that there is variation across these regions, with relatively low Indigenous private sector employment rates in Kununurra, Derby and Kalgoorlie, and a relatively high rate in Narrogin. The high rates of local government employment in regions with low Indigenous private sector employment

DEWR: Department of

Employment and Workplace Relations

Indigenous	Commonwealth	State	Local	Private	Total
Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
-					
Perth	73.2	66.3	71.4	63.4	64.4
Broome	82.8	69.0	11.5	42.2	42.5
Kununurra	100.0	76.1	21.7	38.2	36.0
Narrogin	83.7	49.8	58.5	51.7	51.9
South Hedland	66.7	53.0	33.6	58.6	56.0
Derby	33.3	68.8	8.9	30.7	27.3
Kalgoorlie	100.0	40.0	9.0	46.7	38.6
Geraldton	46.4	61.3	41.9	56.0	54.6
Western Australia	73.8	60.8	21.2	53.0	51.1
Rest of Australia	74.8	65.4	39.9	57.7	57.3
Source: ABS Census	of Population and Ho	using			

Table 13. Indigenous workers employed full-time by sector of employment for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

are also likely to reflect census classification of CDEP employment. The stand-out region is Kalgoorlie, which combines very high non-Indigenous private sector engagement with low Indigenous engagement, resulting in a notably low ratio.

Remembering that Table 10 showed that Derby, Broome, Kalgoorlie and Kununurra (in that order) had the highest employment to population ratios, Table 12 shows that these regions also had the highest relative employment in local government (most likely CDEP employment). For example, in both Kununurra and Derby, over one-quarter of the employed Indigenous population were employed in local government industries. The remaining four regions-those closest to Perth and the south-west of the State-all had relatively high rates of employment in the private sector. Not surprisingly, Perth had the highest rates of employment in both the Commonwealth and State governments, although State Government jobs also accounted for more than 10 per cent of Indigenous employment in Geraldton, South Hedland, Narrogin and Broome.

Thus, a large part of the variation in employment to population ratios revealed in Table 10 can be explained by variation in local government (mostly CDEP) employment. As mentioned, another aspect of CDEP employment is its part-time nature, and this influence also emerges in Table 13, which shows the proportion of the Indigenous workforce employed for 35 hours or more per week (classified by the ABS as being full-time) by sector of employment. This also provides some clue as to the extent of CDEP 'private' sector employment. When interpreting these results, it is worth bearing in mind that 65.3 per cent of all workers in Western Australia were employed full-time in 2006.

From the final column we can see that the same four regions that displayed high employment to population ratios and high employment in the local government sector (Derby, Broome, Kalgoorlie and Kununurra) also had relatively low proportions of full-time employed. Apart from Narrogin, the other four Indigenous Regions all had rates that were close to or above the average for Indigenous workers in the rest of Australia.

Table 14. Indigenous employment-to-population ratios by sector ofemployment and hours worked for Western Australian Indigenous Regions,2006

		Full-time	Private	Full-time and
	Emp/pop	emp/pop	emp/pop	private emp/pop
Indigenous Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Perth	42.8	24.6	30.5	18.9
Broome	48.3	18.1	32.8	13.9
Kununurra	46.6	14.5	27.0	10.3
Narrogin	43.9	20.3	32.3	16.6
South Hedland	44.3	22.3	31.5	18.1
Derby	59.4	15.2	38.4	11.9
Kalgoorlie	47.3	16.0	28.7	13.4
Geraldton	41.6	19.6	28.2	15.5
Western Australia	45.4	20.7	31.0	16.2
Rest of Australia	46.2	24.0	31.4	18.0
Source: ABS Census of Pop	oulation and Housing			

Also, there is variation in the proportion of people who were employed full-time by industry sector. Table 12 showed that, outside of Perth, there was a relatively small proportion of people employed by the Commonwealth Government, and hence the estimates for the first column are likely to be quite variable. Nonetheless, in general terms, it appears that Commonwealth Government employment has a relatively high rate of full-time employment. The State government, which made up a larger proportion of the employed population, had a rate of full-time employment which was in general lower than in the Commonwealth Government sector, but still higher in all but Narrogin and South Hedland than for the total employed Indigenous population.

The third column of Table 13, indicating those in the local government sector, displays the most variation across Indigenous Regions. Over 70 per cent of Indigenous Australians in Perth who were employed by local governments worked 35 hours or more per week. Compared to this, the figures for Derby and Kalgoorlie were less than 10 per cent.

Tables 12 and 13 have shown a more complex picture of Indigenous employment across Indigenous Regions than was apparent in the results presented in Tables 8 to 10. That is, those areas which had relatively high employment to population ratios and relatively low unemployment rates have relatively low proportions of the employed population in either the private sector or in full-time employment. Clearly, part-time employment and government sector employment (both of which are highly concentrated in CDEP) explain a good deal of the variation in rates of employment.

This more complicated story is summarised in Table 14, which repeats the employment to population ratio from Table 10, but adds three other ratios that capture the type of employment that Indigenous Australians are unlikely to be engaged in. More specifically, the second column of the table gives the percentage of the population aged 15 years and over who are employed 35 hours or more per week (full-time), whereas the third column gives the percentage of the same population who were employed in the private sector. The final column combines these two aspects of employment and gives the percentage of the population

		Occupation			Industry	
		2006	2006		2006	2006
Indigenous Region	2001	-old	-new	2001	-old	-new
Perth	0.109	0.136	0.169	0.166	0.114	0.131
Broome	0.326	0.257	0.302	0.489	0.326	0.394
Kununurra	0.438	0.407	0.463	0.572	0.491	0.536
Narrogin	0.199	0.194	0.224	0.187	0.145	0.123
South Hedland	0.301	0.218	0.290	0.377	0.285	0.354
Derby	0.509	0.449	0.502	0.511	0.461	0.519
Kalgoorlie	0.334	0.310	0.359	0.473	0.410	0.442
Geraldton	0.236	0.237	0.265	0.298	0.234	0.270
	0.050	0.004	0.007	0.040	0.050	0.000
Western Australia	0.256	0.224	0.287	0.313	0.252	0.280
Rest of Australia	0.193	0.176	0.227	0.219	0.174	0.197

Table 15. Dissimilarity indices by occupation and industry classification forWestern Australian Indigenous Regions, 2001 and 2006

Note: '2006–Old' refers to the estimations on 2006 data using the old occupation and industry classifications whereas '2006–new' refers to the estimations on 2006 data using the new classifications.

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

aged 15 years and over who are employed both full-time and in the private sector. In a sense, this column represents the percentage of the population who are fully engaged in the market economy.

According to the final column of Table 14, only Perth and South Hedland had a higher proportion of the population aged 15 years and over employed in both full-time and private sector employment than the rest of Australia. Derby on the other hand, which the first column of numbers shows had quite a high employment to population ratio, had a full-time/private sector employment to population ratio that was only about two-thirds of the figure for the rest of the Australia. Despite regional variation, these proportions for Indigenous people in full-time private sector employment are all very low compared to the figure of 54.6 per cent recorded for the non-Indigenous workforce in Western Australia.

This distillation of Indigenous labour force composition to its market economy base is highly significant in the context of deliberations regarding Indigenous employment outcomes and prospects. It reveals that the core business of government and many corporate policies aimed at encouraging and assisting Indigenous people into full-time private sector employment have a long way to go in all regions of Western Australia. A more detailed breakdown of these labour force status indicators is provided in Appendix C.

OCCUPATION AND INDUSTRY OF EMPLOYMENT

In the final analysis, employment is a means to personal income generation, with the amount generated determined largely by occupational status. In turn, the availability of particular occupations within a region is partly related to the industry mix of economic activities. Thus, the relative distribution of Indigenous and non-Indigenous employment by industry and occupational category is a vital feature of participation in the Western Australian labour market.

The difference between the occupations and industries that Indigenous and non-Indigenous workers are employed in can be summarised using a common statistical measure—the Index of Dissimilarity. While this index is often used to measure residential segregation, it can also be used to measure the extent to which two particular groups (in this case employed Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians) who live in a given region are distributed differently across a common set of characteristics (in this case their occupation or industry category). The index ranges in value from 0 (the two groups have the same distribution), to 1 (the two groups are completely segregated, that is no Indigenous workers are employed in any of the occupations or industries that employ non-Indigenous workers). Values between these upper and lower bounds can be interpreted as the proportion of Indigenous workers who would have to change their occupation or industry of employment in order to achieve a distribution equivalent to that of non-Indigenous workers.²

In Table 15 there are three columns of Indices of Dissimilarity for both the occupation and industry classification. The first column is for 2001 data using the classification schemes that were used for that Census. The second column (2006—old) uses 2006 data under the same classification scheme. The third column uses both 2006 data and the current updated occupation and industry classifications

The key finding from the analysis of change in these indices since 2001 is that both occupational and industry segregation in the labour market has reduced. In other words, since 2001 Indigenous workers have managed to distribute themselves more evenly across the labour market.

According to Table 15, the Indigenous population employed in Perth had a distribution across the occupation categories that was very close to the non-Indigenous population and Narrogin had the closest distribution across the industry categories (though the index value for Perth was not that much higher). In all other regions, employment distributions displayed greater labour market segregation in terms of both occupational and industry spread. Interestingly, this segregation was also higher than in the rest of Australia, and notably so in regions like Kununurra, Derby and Kalgoorlie. In Derby for example, more than half of the Indigenous population would have to change their occupation or industry of employment to have the same distribution as the non-Indigenous population.

Clearly, the Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations are employed in quite different labour markets across Western Australia. Table 16 begins to examine these compositional differences by revealing the distribution of occupations, beginning with the percentage of the employed Indigenous population in each of the occupation categories, the corresponding non-Indigenous figure, and the ratio of the Indigenous to the non-Indigenous percentage.

The overwhelming pattern is one of under-representation of Indigenous workers in managerial, professional, sales and trade occupations, and their substantial over-representation in labouring jobs. While much of the latter arises from the ABS tendency to code CDEP workers as labourers and related workers, the contrasting distributions focussed on either end of the occupational scale provide one measure of the skills differential between Indigenous and non-Indigenous workers. Amongst managers, the disparity is lowest in Perth but highest in Kununurra and Derby. Amongst professionals, there are reasonably consistent ratios for six of the eight regions, with values between 0.61 and 0.73. Kununurra and Derby once again have the biggest difference.

For three of the occupation groups the ratios are quite different for different regions. For technicians and trades workers, the ratios are all less than 1, although in Perth and Narrogin the ratios are above 0.90. In Derby, Kununurra and Kalgoorlie however, the percentage of Indigenous workers in this occupational category is less than half that of the non-Indigenous population. The ratios for clerical and administrative workers are reasonably close to 1, apart from in South Hedland, Derby and Kalgoorlie where they are around 0.70. The category of machinery operator and driver is the one with perhaps the most variability across

Table 16. Indigenous, non-Indigenous and ratio of occupation of employment for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006

			Technician	Commun.			Machinery	
Indigenous			and trades	and personal	Clerical and	Sales	operator and	
Region	Manager	Professional	worker	service worker	admin. worker	worker	driver	Labourer
Indigenous								
Perth	5.6	14.2	14.8	15.6	15.8	7.2	9.3	17.4
Broome	5.0	11.5	9.9	17.6	13.0	4.9	4.0	34.2
Kununurra	1.8	7.7	6.2	19.1	9.3	2.2	6.2	47.5
Narrogin	6.3	8.5	16.0	14.7	9.8	5.8	11.8	27.1
South Hedland	3.2	9.7	13.7	14.4	7.9	3.1	17.2	30.7
Derby	2.3	7.0	5.7	14.9	7.5	2.6	2.9	57.2
Kalgoorlie	5.3	8.4	8.5	16.3	8.3	4.5	10.4	38.2
Geraldton	4.5	9.8	12.9	18.2	12.1	3.7	10.9	27.9
Rest of Australia	6.0	12.0	12.6	16.0	13.3	7.4	8.4	24.2
Non-Indigenous								
Perth	11.5	21.0	16.2	9.2	16.0	10.0	6.4	9.8
Broome	15.0	18.7	18.0	11.0	12.9	8.6	5.2	10.6
Kununurra	18.4	19.1	14.7	8.2	11.8	6.3	9.5	12.1
Narrogin	18.8	12.3	17.7	8.0	11.1	9.0	8.8	14.4
South Hedland	9.8	13.8	24.8	6.8	12.0	6.1	15.2	11.4
Derby	15.5	21.9	16.1	9.2	11.0	5.6	8.1	12.6
Kalgoorlie	13.6	12.7	19.8	7.3	11.5	7.6	16.3	11.3
Geraldton	18.4	13.5	16.9	8.5	11.5	8.6	9.4	13.2
Rest of Australia	13.7	20.5	14.4	8.9	15.4	10.1	6.6	10.4
Ratio of Indigenous to	o non-Indigenou	us						
Perth	0.49	0.67	0.92	1.70	0.99	0.72	1.46	1.78
Broome	0.33	0.61	0.55	1.60	1.00	0.57	0.77	3.21
Kununurra	0.10	0.40	0.42	2.32	0.79	0.34	0.66	3.93
Narrogin	0.34	0.69	0.91	1.83	0.88	0.64	1.34	1.89
South Hedland	0.33	0.70	0.55	2.11	0.66	0.51	1.14	2.68
Derby	0.15	0.32	0.35	1.62	0.68	0.47	0.35	4.52
Kalgoorlie	0.39	0.67	0.43	2.23	0.72	0.59	0.63	3.39
Geraldton	0.24	0.73	0.76	2.15	1.05	0.43	1.16	2.11
Rest of Australia	0.44	0.59	0.88	1.81	0.86	0.73	1.27	2.33

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

the regions. For the rest of Australia, there are higher proportions of Indigenous Australians employed in this category than non-Indigenous Australians. This is also the case in Perth, Narrogin, Geraldton and South Hedland. For the other four regions and especially Derby, however, the reverse is true with a higher percentage of non-Indigenous employees.

The main reason why Derby, Kununurra, Broome and Kalgoorlie have lower percentages in the aforementioned occupational categories is because of the very high percentage of the Indigenous population employed as labourers. In Derby, over half of the employed population are employed as labourers. This is four and a half times the percentage for the non-Indigenous population.

Table 17 presents similar results for the proportion of the Indigenous and non-Indigenous employed population in particular industries. The first row of the table uses abbreviated names for the industries with the full names given in Appendix Table A2. It should also be noted that, due to small numbers of people employed in them, the last four categories in Table 17 represent a combination of two or three industries. This is also made clear in Appendix B Table B1.

Two industries stand out as having a consistently lower percentage of Indigenous employment—agriculture, forestry and fishing; and media and financial services. As with some of the occupation categories, the disparities are highest in Derby, Kununurra, Kalgoorlie and Broome. However, there are substantial differences in industry of employment in all regions and across most industries. Of most interest here are the low ratios of Indigenous to non-Indigenous employment in mining in key regions such as Broome, Kununurra, South Hedland and Kalgoorlie. In Kalgoorlie for example, where almost one-fifth of non-Indigenous workers are employed in mining, the percentage for the Indigenous population is less than half of this. Aside from Perth, the important tourism-related industry category of accommodation and food services also shows major discrepancies in all regions. In fact, away from the Perth labour market, where Indigenous employment is most notably absent only from trades, media and financial services, and professional, scientific and technical services, all other regions reveal considerable segregation in industry of employment, with most Indigenous workers concentrated in administrative and support services, public administration and safety, education and training, health care and social assistance and the arts and recreation services, all of which is consistent with the relative distribution of employment by non-private sector activities as shown earlier.

WORK READINESS AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC OUTCOMES

We turn now to an examination of some of the potential factors that underlie the employment situation outlined above, as well as to consideration of some of the potential outcomes from employment. The discussion here takes its impetus from a recent analysis of factors statistically associated with the employment of Indigenous Australians at the national level (Biddle & Webster 2007). This found that lifecycle factors, education and health are important explanatory variables for whether or not Indigenous Australians are employed. For the most part we are restricted here to lifecycle characteristics available from census data, although some non-Census sources will also be drawn upon.

EDUCATION PARTICIPATION AND QUALIFICATIONS

Biddle and Webster (2007) have demonstrated that Indigenous Australians who had completed later years of high school and/or had gained post school qualifications were statistically more likely to be in the labour force, less likely to be unemployed, and less likely to be employed in CDEP as opposed to non-CDEP employment. However, as we shall see, Indigenous Australians are also much less likely to have achieved these educational milestones than the non-Indigenous population, which in part helps explain the poor employment outcomes presented so far. However, as before, there is substantial variation across Indigenous Regions in Western Australia in terms of education completion.

Table 17. Indus	Stry of en	npioymei	it for v	Vestern A	ustrallari	maiger	ious negi	uns, uy i	naigenoi	us status,	, 2006			
	Agri.,			Accom.,	Trans.,	Prof.,	Admin.,					Art.,		Media,
Indigenous	Forest.,			Food	Post.,	Sci,	Support.	Public	Edu.,			Other	Utilit.,	Finance
Region	Fish.	Mining	Manu.	Services.	Ware.	Tech.	Services	Admin.	Train.	Health	Trade	Services	Const.	Services
Indigenous														
Perth	0.7	3.8	10.0	6.3	5.6	3.4	4.3	14.0	10.1	11.8	10.7	4.6	10.4	4.2
Broome	2.4	1.2	2.5	3.5	1.9	2.1	6.4	20.5	10.5	26.3	6.2	5.7	7.8	3.1
Kununurra	2.4	6.8	0.9	1.4	1.2	2.0	3.1	31.6	6.7	25.3	2.1	13.3	3.0	0.4
Narrogin	9.7	3.9	8.1	5.0	2.9	1.4	8.1	9.8	11.2	10.4	10.6	5.1	11.3	2.4
South Hedland	1.1	22.7	2.5	3.3	1.9	1.5	3.7	14.1	8.7	21.0	4.1	5.4	8.7	1.3
Derby	3.1	1.4	0.9	1.4	0.7	0.9	3.9	30.0	6.8	33.4	2.4	11.7	3.0	0.2
Kalgoorlie	1.8	9.8	2.6	3.8	2.1	2.3	3.4	27.3	9.4	17.8	5.0	9.0	4.4	1.3
Geraldton	6.1	5.4	4.4	4.0	3.6	2.7	5.4	14.9	13.3	18.4	6.7	4.2	8.6	2.2
Rest of Australia	3.2	1.6	8.2	7.0	4.3	2.4	3.8	17.9	8.7	15.0	11.1	5.0	8.3	3.4
Non-Indigenous														
Perth	0.8	3.2	10.1	5.9	4.3	7.7	3.4	6.7	8.0	11.0	16.2	5.4	10.2	7.2
Broome	4.4	2.2	4.1	12.3	7.8	3.0	3.6	8.4	9.1	9.3	14.2	5.3	11.2	5.1
Kununurra	9.8	8.7	4.9	7.3	6.5	1.9	3.5	9.5	10.4	9.8	12.3	4.7	7.7	2.9
Narrogin	13.8	3.6	10.5	6.2	3.8	3.2	2.5	5.3	7.3	8.5	14.8	4.4	11.8	4.3
South Hedland	1.2	29.3	4.9	5.7	5.0	2.2	3.7	5.7	7.1	5.6	10.4	3.2	12.3	3.6
Derby	8.3	8.1	3.0	5.0	5.0	1.6	2.5	9.5	12.5	17.0	10.9	4.9	8.8	2.7
Kalgoorlie	6.4	19.6	6.7	5.8	5.7	3.0	2.4	5.0	6.9	7.5	13.0	5.1	8.8	4.0
Geraldton	13.8	6.2	5.0	6.7	5.3	2.8	2.6	6.8	8.9	8.7	15.0	4.5	9.7	4.0
Rest of Australia	3.1	0.8	10.9	6.5	4.9	6.9	3.2	6.8	7.9	10.8	16.2	5.3	8.8	7.9
Ratio of Indigeno	us to non-	Indigenous	5											
Perth	0.82	1.18	1.00	1.06	1.30	0.45	1.26	2.10	1.26	1.07	0.66	0.85	1.03	0.59
Broome	0.55	0.54	0.61	0.29	0.24	0.69	1.77	2.43	1.15	2.83	0.43	1.09	0.70	0.60
Kununurra	0.24	0.78	0.18	0.19	0.18	1.04	0.91	3.34	0.64	2.57	0.17	2.81	0.39	0.14
Narrogin	0.70	1.10	0.77	0.80	0.77	0.45	3.27	1.85	1.54	1.22	0.72	1.18	0.95	0.56
South Hedland	0.94	0.77	0.51	0.58	0.37	0.65	1.00	2.48	1.24	3.72	0.39	1.71	0.70	0.37
Derby	0.37	0.17	0.31	0.27	0.15	0.59	1.52	3.16	0.55	1.96	0.22	2.37	0.34	0.08
Kalgoorlie	0.29	0.50	0.39	0.65	0.38	0.77	1.40	5.47	1.36	2.39	0.38	1.78	0.50	0.33
Geraldton	0.44	0.88	0.88	0.60	0.67	0.97	2.06	2.18	1.49	2.12	0.45	0.93	0.89	0.56
Rest of Australia	1.01	1.90	0.76	1.07	0.88	0.35	1.17	2.65	1.11	1.40	0.68	0.95	0.93	0.44

Table 17. Industry of employment for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2006

Note: See Table B1 for full elaboration of industry of employment categories.

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

Working Paper 45/2008

	l. I	ndigenous		Nor	n-Indigenou	S	Ratio
		Year	Year 9		Year	Year 9	
Indigenous	Year 12	10-11	or less	Year 12	10-11	or less	
Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	Year 12
Perth	25.8	52.8	21.3	51.8	37.3	11.0	0.50
Broome	24.3	53.0	22.7	49.5	42.2	8.3	0.49
Kununurra	12.2	46.4	41.4	47.5	42.7	9.9	0.26
Narrogin	16.4	59.0	24.6	35.9	48.5	15.6	0.46
South Hedland	15.8	48.9	35.3	43.3	48.6	8.1	0.36
Derby	16.1	42.9	41.0	47.6	40.6	11.9	0.34
Kalgoorlie	12.8	46.9	40.3	38.0	49.6	12.4	0.34
Geraldton	15.8	53.2	30.9	35.0	48.9	16.1	0.45
Western Australia	19.5	51.5	29.1	48.2	39.9	11.8	0.40
Rest of Australia	22.6	43.2	34.2	47.3	35.9	16.7	0.48

Table 18. Highest year of school completed for Western Australian IndigenousRegions, by Indigenous status, 2006

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

The first set of results examines high-school education (Table 18). For both the Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations, the percentage of the population 15 years and over who had completed education is presented according to three categories: Year 12; Year 10 or 11; and Year 9 or less. These categories are significant since Biddle (2007) has shown that the employment (and income) benefits of completing Year 12 are high for Indigenous people, while completing Year 10 or 11 also improves a person's employment outcomes relative to those who do not.

The region with the highest proportion of Indigenous population completing Year 12 is Perth. Broome also had roughly one-quarter of the population attaining Year 12, however all other regions recorded quite low rates of completion (lower than the rest of the Australia). Perth and Broome also had relatively high rates of completion of Year 10 or 11, as did a few other regions, namely Narrogin and Geraldton. Of the other regions, more than 40 per cent of the Indigenous population of Kununurra, Derby and Kalgoorlie had not completed Year 10.

The final column of results focuses on the ratio of Indigenous to non-Indigenous Year 12 completions. These are low everywhere. Thus, the percentage of the Indigenous population that had completed Year 12 in Perth (which has the highest completion levels) was half that of the non-Indigenous population. Broome had a similar ratio, whereas in Kununurra, Derby, South Hedland and Kalgoorlie the ratios were much lower from one-third down to one-quarter. Clearly, these low levels of human capital mean that it is difficult for Indigenous people to compete with non-Indigenous for employment in many regions of Western Australia. This is further demonstrated in Table 19, which shows the percentage of population aged 15 years or over with non-school qualifications.

Qualification levels are reported according to three levels: degree (which includes those with post-graduate qualifications); diploma (which includes advanced diplomas); and certificate (which includes Levels I to IV). The final column for both Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations shows the percentage of each population with no qualification.

		Indige	enous		Non-Indigenous					
Indigenous	Degree	Diploma	Cert.	None	Degree	Diploma	Cert.	None		
Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
Perth	6.7	3.7	15.2	74.4	19.2	9.3	19.6	51.8		
Broome	3.1	3.6	15.2	78.1	18.4	9.4	27.0	45.2		
Kununurra	1.3	1.8	9.2	87.7	20.7	7.8	25.6	45.9		
Narrogin	2.6	2.6	15.2	79.7	9.9	7.2	22.3	60.6		
South Hedland	1.9	1.8	13.4	82.8	13.6	7.1	31.4	47.9		
Derby	1.3	1.5	9.1	88.1	20.8	10.2	25.4	43.6		
Kalgoorlie	1.5	1.8	10.3	86.5	11.0	6.1	24.6	58.4		
Geraldton	2.2	2.3	12.9	82.6	9.7	6.6	23.0	60.7		
Western Australia	37	27	13.4	80.3	171	8.8	20.5	53.6		
resterri distrand	0.7	217	1011	0010	.,	0.0	2010	0010		
Rest of Australia	4.5	3.8	16.0	75.7	18.4	8.2	19.2	54.2		
6 116 0									ĺ	

Table 19. Highest qualification completed for Western Australian IndigenousRegions, by Indigenous status, 2006

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

Table 20. Educational institution attendance for Western AustralianIndigenous Regions, by Indigenous status, 2006

		Indigenous		Non-Indigenous				
	Age	15-24	Age 25+	Age	15–24	Age 25+		
	School	Non school	Non school	School	Non school	Non school		
Indigenous Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
		40.0			04.4	5.0		
Perth	23.8	13.0	7.5	22.6	31.1	5.2		
Broome	17.1	9.8	5.1	14.2	15.7	6.3		
Kununurra	10.5	4.4	1.6	11.8	7.3	4.8		
Narrogin	19.8	8.8	6.8	27.4	14.4	3.2		
South Hedland	18.1	6.0	3.4	18.0	12.0	4.7		
Derby	9.3	3.4	2.7	7.2	10.6	4.1		
Kalgoorlie	17.6	5.3	2.8	20.2	12.7	3.8		
Geraldton	22.9	5.7	3.3	27.0	11.4	3.0		
Western Australia	19.4	8.8	5.1	23.2	27.6	4 8		
Western Australia	10.1	0.0	0.1	20.2	27.0	1.0		
Rest of Australia	23.6	11.8	6.2	27.5	28.2	5.1		
Source: ABS Census of	f Population	and Housing.						

Once again, Perth emerges as the region with the highest proportion of the population with all types of post-school qualifications. Hence, Perth is the only region where more than one-quarter of the Indigenous population has any form of qualification at all. For the most part, the proportion of Indigenous adults with no qualification is close to or well above 80 per cent. Interestingly, the distribution across regions in terms of qualifications is more varied for the non-Indigenous population.

Table 21. Indigenous and non-Indigenous population who have completed a
qualification and/or Year 12 by labour force status for Western Australian
Indigenous Regions, 2006

	Indigenous			Non-Indigenous			
Indigenous Region	Employed (%)	Unemployed (%)	NILF (%)	Employed (%)	Unemployed (%)	NILF (%)	
Perth	56.0	30.6	23.3	74.8	61.8	49.7	
Broome	48.4	34.8	21.7	74.2	58.1	55.2	
Kununurra	26.9	22.5	11.5	70.6	51.2	55.9	
Narrogin	40.2	21.9	18.1	61.8	44.8	39.4	
South Hedland	38.2	14.8	14.3	69.0	50.6	50.0	
Derby	28.1	40.7	13.3	71.6	65.1	53.0	
Kalgoorlie	30.4	18.9	13.0	62.4	41.3	38.2	
Geraldton	38.2	24.1	15.7	61.5	42.4	36.3	
Western Australia	42.7	25.8	18.2	71.9	57.7	47.2	
Rest of Australia	51.6	30.3	20.2	73.1	57.1	42.9	

Note: NILF = not in the labour force.

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

Clearly, a substantial gap exists in all regions in terms of post-school qualifications. In Geraldton, Narrogin, Kalgoorlie and Perth more than 50 per cent of the non-Indigenous population have no qualifications. The remaining four regions all have a relatively high percentage with qualifications, especially at the two ends of the distribution (degrees and certificates). In these regions, the Indigenous population experiences a double labour market disadvantage, especially in terms of competing for full-time, private sector employment, because not only do they have low rates of completion, they are also competing against a relatively highly qualified non-Indigenous population.

The polarisation of employment outcomes in Western Australia between Indigenous and non-Indigenous adults has many of its antecedents in relative educational status. While the historic reality is that many older Indigenous adults in remote regions of the State may never have attended school, current enrolment rates across compulsory school ages appear to be close to parity across the board. However, many Indigenous children enrolled do not attend school on a regular basis, and there is also a relative lack of progression through the school system to the crucial years of completion at Years 10 and 12.

In Table 20 an indication of proportions attending educational institutions beyond compulsory school age is provided. First of all, among young adults aged 15-24 years, Indigenous proportions attending school are not dissimilar to non-Indigenous in most regions. However, key differences emerge in respect of the proportions attending non-school-based educational institutions, with Indigenous attendance rates substantially lower in all regions. At older ages, over 25 years, the gaps in attendance appear less and in some regions such as Perth, Narrogin and Geraldton, higher proportions of Indigenous persons attend non-school institutions.

		Indigenous		Non-Indigenous		
	Employed	Unemployed	NILF	Employed	Unemployed	NILF
Indigenous Region	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Perth	1.3	0.9	10.5	0.6	1.6	11.5
Broome	1.5	2.3	7.6	0.3	2.8	8.0
Kununurra	0.8	0.0	10.1	0.8	6.7	7.2
Narrogin	1.5	0.7	10.0	0.7	2.0	11.4
South Hedland	0.7	0.0	12.7	0.3	1.6	4.8
Derby	1.5	0.0	15.8	1.1	0.0	8.6
Kalgoorlie	1.7	0.0	10.2	0.4	1.2	9.9
Geraldton	0.9	1.1	10.9	0.6	1.5	10.3
Western Australia	1.3	0.7	10.8	0.6	1.7	11.3
Rest of Australia	1 2	1 0	12.0	0.6	16	12.8
	1.5	1.0	12.0	0.0	1.0	12.0
Note: $NII = not u$	n the labour to	orce				

Table 22. Indigenous and non-Indigenous population with need for assistance by labour force status for Western Australian Indigenous Regions, 2006

Note: NILF = not in the labour force.

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

Of course, the degree to which school and non-school attendance translates into qualifications is the key outcome from a labour market perspective. That such a relationship exists is clearly demonstrated in Table 21, which shows Indigenous and non-Indigenous adults in regions of Western Australia who have completed a qualification and/or Year 12 according to their labour force status.

For both populations, persons not in the labour force are far less likely to have completed schooling to Year 12 or to have acquired a post-school qualification than those in the labour force, with employed persons reporting the greatest level of educational outcomes. However, in line with their generally lower educational achievements, even Indigenous adults who are employed often have less educational background than non-Indigenous people who are not in the labour force. One important explanation for this is the level of Indigenous participation in CDEP, which provides an employment opportunity for individuals who might otherwise be unemployed or not in the labour force precisely by virtue of their low educational status.

HEALTH AND EMPLOYMENT OUTCOMES

A primary barrier to the enhanced participation of Indigenous people in the Western Australian labour market is poor health status and associated high morbidity and mortality. According to the ABS, life expectancy at birth for Indigenous males in the State is just 58 years, compared to 78 years for all males. The equivalent figures for females are 67 years and 83 years. The Epidemiology Branch of the Western Australia Department of Health has calculated life expectancy at birth for Indigenous males in some parts of the State at just 52 years (Pilbara Population Health Unit 2004: 5-21). According to the same source, the Indigenous population accounted for an average of 12 per cent of the West Pilbara population between 1997 and 2001, but for 44 per cent of all deaths.

By these facts alone, the chances of full and prolonged Indigenous participation in the workforce are clearly curtailed. For example, using national life tables based on 2001 census data, the chances that a newborn Indigenous male will reach workforce age (15 years) have been estimated at 97 per cent (Kinfu &

Taylor 2002). For those who do reach workforce age, 19 per cent will be dead by the age of 45, and 25 per cent will not reach 50 years of age. Statistically, more than half of Indigenous males who reach age 15 have no chance of surviving to retirement age at 65 years. Thus, out of an average cohort of 100 Indigenous males aged 15, only 48 would still be alive by age 65 (Kinfu & Taylor 2002: 10). Similar, if not lower, survival probabilities are likely to apply in Western Australia. Equally telling, though, is the morbidity profile that underpins this high mortality. Here we observe the cumulative impact of progressive morbidity that can commence often prior to birth, persist through childhood, and become compounded in adult years. Allied to this are lifestyle factors associated with overcrowded dwellings, risk behaviour, low incomes, and poor nutrition. All this is well documented (ABS & AIHW 2005; Zubrick et al. 2004) and confirms the importance of social and economic determinants of Indigenous health outcomes.

Aside from survival analysis, census data provide little insight into the impacts of health on labour force participation. However, one new variable in the census opens a window into likely effects. In 2006 the census asked about needs for assistance due to disability and long-term conditions, and answers can be cross-classified by labour force status, as seen in Table 22.

For both Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations there is a clear relationship between being in or out of the labour force depending on whether an individual reports a disability or long term health condition. This difference is most marked between those in employment who have the lowest need for assistance and those not in the labour presumably, partly, because they do have a need for assistance for health reasons. For the most part, the degree to which Indigenous people who are not in the labour force report a need for assistance is higher than for their non-Indigenous counterparts, especially in regions such as Derby, South Hedland and to a lesser degree Kununurra. So, while this census variable provides only a limited window into the likely relationship between Indigenous health status and labour force status, it does give some indication of the role poor health plays in limiting labour market participation.

ENGAGEMENT WITH THE JUSTICE SYSTEM

Interaction with the police, and subsequently with the courts and various custodial institutions, is a pervasive component of Indigenous social and economic life in Western Australia. In the 2002 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey (NATSISS), an estimated 22 per cent of Indigenous people aged 15 years and over in Western Australia reported that they had been arrested by police in the previous five years and 26 per cent reported that they were a victim of physical or threatened violence in the previous 12 months. In the 1994 NATSIS, the primary reasons given for arrest included (in descending order) disorderly conduct, drink driving offences, assault, and outstanding warrants.

While the 2002 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey (NATSISS) did not have comparative data for the non-Indigenous population in terms of arrest, a report by the Western Australian Department of Corrective Services (DoCS) (2007) showed the high concentration of the adult prison population that identified as being Aboriginal. In August 2006, there were 1,293 Aboriginal males in adult prisons and 131 Aboriginal females. This represented between 35 and 40 per cent of the respective total prison population which is substantially higher than the proportion in the general population presented earlier.

One link between recidivism and economic outcomes is the degree to which convictions and interaction with police, courts and prisons, reduce individual chances of participating successfully in the labour market, with Hunter and Borland (1999) finding a strong negative impact of arrest. Certainly, in industries that are safety-conscious (such as mining), prior conviction and any on-going substance misuse can be highly deleterious.

Accordingly, the summary statistics presented here allow for some estimate of the population for whom contact with the police and a criminal conviction might represent a barrier, or at least a brake, on labour market participation. Research on the factors underlying high arrest rates among Indigenous people and

NATSISS:

National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey

DoCS:

Department of Corrective Services (Western Australia) the effect of these on employment prospects indicates that if governments are concerned about Indigenous social and economic wellbeing then a priority should be to ensure that they stay out of the criminal justice system in the first place (Hunter 2001; Hunter& Borland 1999). Clearly, in Western Australia, this has yet to be achieved as the statistics indicate high levels of recorded contact with police and subsequent conviction via the courts system. Furthermore, given that Hunter, Weatherburn and Snowball (2006) have noted a significant positive relationship between CDEP participation and low arrest rates, recent and proposed changes to the CDEP program may serve to exacerbate these high rates of arrest.

Among the factors that contribute to high arrest rates among Indigenous people, high unemployment (or lack of meaningful work) and poor educational achievement have been identified as the most prominent (Hunter 2001), although the effects of drugs and alcohol and a breakdown in adherence to rules of customary law are also factors that emerge from the findings of Pilbara-based research by the Law Reform Commission of Western Australia (Trees 2004). All of these prerequisites for high arrest rates are prominent among Indigenous people in Western Australia.

SUMMARY: PARTICIPATION, THE LIFE COURSE AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Despite unprecedented economic growth and associated demand for labour, Western Australia has a serious economic development problem—much of its Indigenous population remains overly-dependent on welfare, is structurally detached from the labour market, and ill-equipped to engage with it. This paper has shown that these indicators could worsen as a consequence of rapid growth in working-age population if recent trends in the rate of Indigenous job acquisition continue. For example, just to maintain the already low employment rate of 45 per cent State-wide will require additional jobs to be created at roughly the same rate as growth in the working-age population. Otherwise the employment rate will inevitably fall. From a policy perspective, 'business as usual' is simply insufficient to meet the expanding needs of Indigenous people.

The levels of economic exclusion implied by the findings that have been presented here raise questions about the adequacy of government resourcing to meet the backlog of disadvantage that has so obviously accumulated in many Indigenous communities in Western Australia. Looking ahead, this raises questions about the costs—to government, to industry, and to Indigenous people—if social and economic conditions remain the same as currently experienced. Basically, costs will simply escalate in line with the growth in population. To properly assess adequacy in this context, it is not sufficient to consider amounts expended by governments on Indigenous programs separate from the key questions of whether such amounts are commensurate with the scale of the task of overcoming disadvantage, and whether they are equitable on a per capita basis when compared with equivalent spending across the state and nationally.

To date, the only analysis to have measured spending in this way has been for a single Aboriginal community (Wadeye, in the Northern Territory). This uncovered gross inadequacies and inequities in crucial areas of capacity building such as education, training and infrastructure with associated high expenditures in health, welfare and incarceration (Taylor & Stanley 2005). If similar inadequacies were to exist in communities across Western Australia (and at this stage this is not known), then the level of government intervention aimed at overcoming disadvantage among the growing Indigenous populations of these regions would not only be found wanting, it would simply be 'funding into a deficit' (Ah Kit 2004). This reflects the regressive nature of the link between demography and economy in contemporary Indigenous Australia, and it means that governments (and industry for that matter) can either invest now to build capabilities, or pay heavily in the future to manage the social and economic consequences. Whatever the case, a fiscal response is unavoidable.



Fig. 3. Select social indicators across the life course in Western Australia: Ratio of Indigenous to non-Indigenous

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

Many of the difficulties that produce these unfavourable outcomes in the labour market accumulate over the life course. While premature mortality shortens the overall span of social and economic participation for many Indigenous people, social and economic disadvantage at early ages also serves to diminish such participation. To provide a visual impression of these cumulative effects of disadvantage at different stages in the life course, Fig. 3 shows a series of Indigenous to non-Indigenous ratios of outcomes in key indicators that are linked to labour market success. In this figure, ratios above the middle gridline (1.0) indicate higher Indigenous values; ratios below the middle gridline indicate lower Indigenous values.

Fig. 3 shows that the rate for low birth weight (below 2,500 gms) for Indigenous children in Western Australia is more than twice the rate for all children in the state.³ Disparity in education attendance commences early, with the level of Indigenous education attendance at age 3-4 years at 84 per cent of the non-Indigenous level. However, this is as good as it gets, as attendance in educational institutions in the all-important school to work transition years (15–24 years of age) falls to only 50 per cent of the non-Indigenous level.

Given these rates of education attendance, it is not surprising to find that the rate at which Indigenous youth are not employed is almost twice that of non-Indigenous youth, and that by middle-age Indigenous people report a need for assistance due to disability or a long term health condition at almost three times the non-Indigenous rate. Putting all this together in a lifespan opportunities framework, the telling outcome is the proportion of time an Indigenous adult of prime working age is predicted to be employed, which is less than two-thirds that of non-Indigenous adults.

Clearly, any strategies aimed at overcoming the disadvantaged situation of Indigenous people in Western Australia will have to address—given their interrelatedness in terms of eventual economic outcomes—the structural issues that occur at each of these crucial formative stages. Among the key structural issues identified here are childhood health and education. If Indigenous people are to successfully compete for skilled mainstream jobs with others in Western Australia, then they require the human capital base to do so. Of course, conspicuously missing from Fig. 3 is the massive gap in interaction with the criminal justice system that so heavily weighs against Indigenous youth and young adults.

While some regions (notably Perth) fare better than others in terms of labour market outcomes, there is clearly no part of the State where urgent attention is not required. In Perth for example, Indigenous people remain substantially underrepresented in particular industry categories that include some of the larger employers in the city such as supermarkets, department stores and retailers of all kinds, in wholesaling, professional services and communications, in accounting, banking, insurance, legal and hiring and sales industries such as real estate. This, in turn, is reflected in a relative absence from key jobs in management, the professionals, registered nurses, teachers, motor mechanics, chefs, plumbers, electricians, check out operators, sales assistants, and motor vehicle dealers.

With two-thirds of the Indigenous population retaining a residential base away from Metropolitan Perth, the extent to which real lifestyle choices are being made has to be factored into any policy response. Clearly, the sheer scale of continuing ties to country requires that opportunities for economic activity need to be exploited wherever they emerge. In considering such options, one issue is the extent to which existing economic activities are adequately reflected in census statistics. For example, it would appear that many locally significant tasks are either subsumed under the label of 'CDEP', or 'labouring' in the census, or overlooked altogether due to their lack of fit with mainstream labour force categories. Examples of such activity abound and often have their basis in the customary sector, though invariably reliant on linkages and interdependencies with the market or state sectors—for example, hunting, fishing and gathering, art and craft manufacture, cultural and natural resource management. These often have fledgling or well-established employment potential (Altman 2002, 2005; Altman, Buchanan & Larsen 2007; Armstrong, Morrison & Yu 2005). More importantly, they are often labour-intensive and certainly widespread in occurrence. It is important to consider ways of strengthening these customary economic activities as part of the broad strategy of raising employment levels.

Of course, in pursuit of a social licence to operate, major corporations have been active in engaging Indigenous workers with many mine sites across the State adopting target quotas. But such is the depth of supply-side disadvantage that a major challenge lies ahead in meeting these targets (certainly in a collective sense) given that they are likely to come close to exhausting entire local supplies of employable labour. For this reason, companies are increasingly investing in remedial programs to enhance work readiness and to address structural barriers in meeting 'fitness for work' requirements (Tiplady & Barclay 2007). Even so, if current targets were to be achieved, the additional jobs created might only suffice to keep pace with the growth in Indigenous working-age population. Thus, while much might be accomplished by the mining sector in the years ahead in terms of raising levels of Indigenous employment, little change might be discernable in terms of aggregate social indicators with a large component of the population remaining marginalised unless wider options for engagement are canvassed.

Indigenous employment generation in many remote communities, and to some extent in towns as well, is most likely to occur via an import substitution model embracing activities such as the construction and maintenance of physical infrastructure, education, health services, retailing, public administration, transport, media, land restoration, land and sea management, and tourism. Some of the diversity in economic activity encompassed here is already in place via CDEP schemes, although it is rarely recognised as such, often being seen amorphously as 'just' CDEP work. As for the jobs in remote communities that

IT: information technology are currently occupied by imported non-Indigenous workers, these tend to be managerial and professional positions requiring particular skills and job-readiness. There is unlikely to be rapid 'Indigenisation' of such jobs without concerted effort to raise educational standards.

Short of any sustained migration for employment away from rural areas—which has not been evident to date and which could not necessarily guarantee employment anyway as indicated by the limited difference in outcomes between Perth and the rest of the State—there is a continued need for public subvention along with flexibility and realism in the drive to raise economic status. In particular, it is important to ask how the broad strategy of raising employment levels might be targeted to suit particular regional and local circumstances. There is an immediate requirement for detailed regionally-based quantitative assessments of the supply of, and demand for, Indigenous labour for different economic activities that already exist, or that may be created at the local level. Only then can the appropriate mix of resources for matching supply to demand be appropriately assessed and deployed.

NOTES

- 1. The applicable population is those aged 5 years and over in 2006, who stated their usual residence on Census night in 2006 and what it was 5 years before then and who were in Australia on Census night in 2001 and 2006. It should also be noted that these migration rates were summed up from Statistical Local Area (SLA) level data. Five of the 1,429 SLAs were spread across multiple Indigenous Regions. These SLAs were allocated to the Indigenous Region with the highest proportion of the SLA population in 2006.
- 2. The actual formula for the Index of Dissimilarity is

$$ID = 0.5 \sum_{i} \left| \frac{I_i}{I} - \frac{N_i}{N} \right|$$

where the vertical lines refer to the absolute value, the summation is over i occupation or industry categories,

 (I_i, N_i) refers to the number of Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians in the *ith* category and (I, N) refers to the total number of employed Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians in the region.

3. Due to data constraints, the ratio for this figure is Indigenous children relative to all children. The gap between Indigenous and non-Indigenous children will be even larger.

REFERENCES

- Altman, J.C. 2001. 'Sustainable development options on Indigenous land: The hybrid economy In the twenty-first century', *CAEPR Discussion Paper No. 226*, CAEPR, ANU, Canberra, available at <<u>http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/discussion.php</u>>.
- 2005. 'Economic futures on Aboriginal land in remote and very remote Australia: Hybrid economies and joint ventures', in D. Austin-Broos and G. Macdonald (eds), *Culture, Economy and Governance in Aboriginal Australia*, Sydney University Press, Sydney.
- —, Buchanan, G. and Larsen. L. 2007. 'The environmental significance of the Indigenous estate: Natural resource management as economic development in remote Australia', CAEPR Discussion Paper No. 286, Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research, ANU, Canberra, available at http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/discussion.php.
- Armstrong, R., Morrison, J., and Yu, P. 2005. 'Indigenous land and sea management and sustainable business development in Northern Australia', *NAILSMA Discussion Paper*, North Australian Indigenous Land and Sea Management Alliance, Darwin.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 2007. *Population Distribution, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians*, ABS cat. no. 4705.0, ABS, Canberra.
- and Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) 2005. *The Health and Welfare of Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples 2005*, cat no. 4704.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Ah Kit, J. 2004. 'Why do we always plan for the past? Engaging Aboriginal people in regional development', Paper presented at the *Sustainable Economic Growth for Regional Australia* (*SEGRA*) 8th National Conference, September, Alice Springs.
- Biddle, N. 2007. Does it Pay to Go to School? The Benefits Of and Participation In Education of Indigenous Australians, PhD Thesis, CAEPR, ANU.
- and Hunter, B.H. 2006. 'An analysis of the internal migration of Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians', *Australian Journal of Labour Economics*, 9 (4): 321–42
- and Webster, A. 2007. *Modelling the Labour Force Status of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians*, Australian Labour Market Research Workshop, February, Melbourne.
- Department of Corrective Services (DoCS) 2007 *Monthly Graphical Report: August 2007*, DoCS, Government of Western Australia, Perth.
- Hunter, B.H. 2001. *Factors Underlying Indigenous Arrest Rates*, NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research, Attorney General's Department, Sydney.
- 2004. Indigenous Australians in the Contemporary Labour Market 2001, cat no. 2052.0, ABS, Canberra.
- and Borland, J. 1999. 'The effect of arrest on indigenous employment prospects', *Crime and Justice Bulletin, No. 45*, NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research, Attorney General's Department, Sydney.
- ——, Weatherburn, D., and Snowball, L. 2006. 'The economic and social factors underpinning Indigenous contact with the justice system: Results from the 2002 NATSISS survey', *Crime and Justice Bulletin*, 104 (November): 1–16.
- Kinfu, Y. and Taylor, J. 2002. 'Estimating the components of Indigenous population change, 1996–2001', *CAEPR Discussion Paper No. 240*, CAEPR, ANU, Canberra, available at <http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/discussion.php>.

- Pilbara Population Health Unit 2004. *Pilbara Health Profile*, The Pilbara Population Health Unit, South Hedland.
- Rowse, T. 2002. *Indigenous Futures: Choice and Development for Aboriginal and Islander Australia*, UNSW Press, Sydney.
- Taylor, J. 1998. 'The relative economic status of indigenous people in Western Australia, 1991–96', *CAEPR Discussion Paper No. 157*, CAEPR, ANU, Canberra, available at <http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/discussion.php>.
- 2004. Aboriginal Population Profiles for Development Planning in the Northern East Kimberley, CAEPR Research Monograph No. 23, ANU E Press, Canberra, available at <<u>http://epress.anu.edu.au/c23_citation.html</u>>.
- ----- 2006. 'Indigenous People in the West Kimberley Labour Market', *CAEPR Working Paper No. 35*, CAEPR, ANU, Canberra, available at <<u>http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/working.php</u>>.
- —— and Roach, L. 1994. 'The relative economic status of indigenous people in Western Australia, 1986– 91', CAEPR Discussion Paper No. 59, CAEPR, ANU, Canberra, available at http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/discussion.php.
- and Scambary, B. 2005. Indigenous People and the Pilbara Mining Boom: a Baseline for Regional Participation, CAEPR Research Monograph No. 25, ANU E Press, Canberra, available at http://epress.anu.edu.au/c25_citation.html.
- and Stanley, O. 2005. 'The opportunity costs of the status quo in the Thamarrurr Region, Northern Territory', CAEPR Working Paper No. 28, CAEPR, ANU, Canberra, available at http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/working.php.
- Trees, K. 2004. 'Contemporary issues facing customary law and the general legal system: Roebourne—a case study', *Background Paper No. 6*, Law Reform Commission of Western Australia, Perth.
- Tiplady, T. and Barclay, M.A. 2007. *Indigenous Employment in the Australian Minerals Industry*, The Centre for Social Responsibility in Mining, University of Queensland, Brisbane.
- Zubrick, S.R., Lawrence, D.M., Silburn, S.R., Blair, E., Milroy, H., Wilkes, T., Eades, S., D'Antoine, H., Read, A., Ishiguchi, P., and Doyle, S. 2004. *The Western Australian Aboriginal Child Health Survey: The Health of Aboriginal Children and Young People*, Telethon Institute for Child Health Research, Perth.

-
-
Z
\geq
>
2
~
\sim
5
-
Ő
\geq
-
\simeq
2
0
0
<u> </u>
2

APPENDIX A. NON-INDIGENOUS OUTCOMES

Table A1. Select characteristics of non-	-Indigeno	ous Australi	ans or nor	n-Indigeno	us househo	lds by sta	te of usual	residenc	æ, 2006
Variable	NSW	VIC	QLD	SA	WA	TAS	NT	ACT	Australia
Population ('000s)	6,019	4,636	3,552	1,419	1,773	437	123	305	18,267
Unemployment rate (% labour force)	5.7	5.3	4.5	5.1	3.6	6.3	2.6	3.3	5.1
Labour force participation rate (% adults)	62.3	63.3	65.4	61.6	66.4	59.7	78.7	72.7	63.7
Employment-to-population ratio (% adults)	58.8	59.9	62.4	58.4	64.1	55.9	76.6	70.2	60.5
Private-sector employment (% adults)	51.5	52.4	53.5	50.1	55.2	45.9	32.8	42.2	52.1
Median income – Individual	464	457	481	436	507	402	712	724	471
Median income – non-Indigenous households Home owner or purchasing	1,042	1,023	1,037	891	1,071	802	1,324	1,513	1,031
(% non-Indigenous households)	69.5	74.1	72.2	72.2	72.0	74.3	56.4	70.0	71.0
Average number of persons per bedroom (% non-Indigenous households)	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1
Household size (Persons in non-Indigenous households)	2.6	2.6	2.6	2.4	2.5	2.4	2.5	2.6	2.6
Never attended school (% adults)	1.2	1.2	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.4	0.9
Completed Year 10 or higher (% adults)	83.0	81.7	85.2	83.4	88.2	80.7	88.7	91.1	83.7
Completed Year 12 (% adults)	47.7	48.9	46.4	42.2	48.2	35.1	48.4	66.9	47.4
Post-school qualification (% adults)	47.7	45.8	43.7	41.8	46.5	41.1	52.2	57.4	45.9
Degree or higher (% adults)	19.4	19.9	15.4	14.9	17.1	13.9	19.1	33.5	18.3
(% population)	24.7	24.4	24.0	27.2	23.4	27.6	16.1	20.4	24.7
Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.	Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.								

Working Paper 45/2008

APPENDIX B. INDUSTRY OF EMPLOYMENT ABBREVIATIONS AND FULL NAMES

Table B1. Industry of employment abbreviations and full names to supportTable 17

Abbreviation	Industries
Agri., Forest., Fish.	Agriculture, forestry & fishing
Mining	Mining
Manu.	Manufacturing
Accom., Food Services.	Accommodation & food services
Trans., Post., Ware.	Transport, postal & warehousing
Prof., Sci, Tech.	Professional, scientific & technical services
Admin., Sup. Serv.	Administrative & support services
Public Admin.	Public administration & safety
Edu., Train.	Education & training
Health	Health care & social assistance
Trade	Wholesale trade; Retail trade
Art., Other Services	Arts & recreation services; Other services
Utilit., Const.	Electricity, gas, water & waste services; Construction
Media., Finance Services	Information media & telecommunications; Financial & insurance services; Rental, hiring & real estate services

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

APPENDIX C. SELECT EMPLOYMENT VARIABLES BY INDIGENOUS AREA

The employment outcomes for the Indigenous population in Western Australia that have been presented and discussed in this paper have all been at the Indigenous Region level. However, as is apparent from Fig. 1, the geographic size of the Indigenous Regions in Western Australia are in many cases very large. For example, the Indigenous Region of Kalgoorlie covers over 950,000 square kilometres in the south west of the state. Clearly, with regions this size, there is going to be a great deal of diversity in the population within a number of these regions and hence the labour market outcomes are also likely to vary. This is demonstrated in Tables C1, C2, and C3 below, which give select employment outcomes by Indigenous Area, the level of geography below Indigenous Regions.

Table C1. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Perth IndigenousRegion, 2006

		Adjusted count		
	Unemployment	of 15-54		
Indigenous	rate (%	year olds not		Full-time and
Area	labour force)	employed	Emp/pop	private emp/pop
	P	erth Indigenous Reg	gion	
Wanneroo	16.0	691	46.9	21.6
Joondalup	7.0	174	66.4	29.1
Swan	17.0	1,012	42.2	18.9
Stirling	18.3	870	40.3	15.7
Bayswater	13.2	234	49.6	23.7
Bassendean	15.2	157	43.8	21.6
Belmont	22.5	417	38.8	14.8
Kalamunda	10.6	267	53.5	25.5
Mundaring	18.5	508	26.9	12.8
Perth West	14.7	157	43.8	17.6
Perth/Vincent	10.9	132	53.9	17.3
South Perth	23.2	163	34.4	19.2
Victoria Park	9.9	165	48.5	23.2
Fremantle/				
East Fremantle	19.0	214	35.0	10.7
Melville	18.2	217	47.0	23.3
Canning	17.4	361	45.1	20.8
Gosnells	15.9	1,038	40.3	18.4
Cockburn	16.4	480	45.2	17.8
Armadale	22.7	581	40.3	16.8
Kwinana	20.3	595	23.2	11.3
Serpentine-				
Jarrahdale	6.7	40	53.2	25.0
Rockingham	9.0	338	53.4	24.8
Source: ARS Census	of Population and Ho	usina		

Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.

	_			
		Adjusted count		
		of 15-54		
	Unemployment	year olds not		Full-time/private
Indigenous area	rate	employed	Emp/pop	emp/pop
	Bro	oome Indigenous Re	egion	
Broome	14.5	977	44.9	18.2
Bidyadanga	4.0	175	41.3	1.3
Beagle Bay	7.1	38	69.6	11.7
Djarindjin/				
Lombadina	4.3	65	54.5	2.5
Bardi (One Arm				
Point)	9.7	58	53.8	5.5
Broome -				
Pastoral Areas	0.0	50	68.0	0.0
	Кил	unurra Indigenous	Region	
Kununurra	5.3	335	48.6	15.6
Wyndham	12.2	121	40.9	10.8
Oombulgurri	0.0	12	72.2	9.6
Kalumburu	0.0	144	37.2	3.5
Lake Argyle	3.2	62	62.3	17.4
Wyndham-East	0.2	02	02.0	
Kimberlev-Rem	3.4	38	75.4	25.2
Warmun	6.9	55	44.3	7.5
Balgo	12.0	205	32.5	0.0
Halls Creek Town	22.2	387	37.7	6.7
Halls Creek-		007	0.11	
North	8.7	52	65.5	0.0
Mulan	0.0	37	46.8	5.5
Mindibungu	0.0	26	41.5	0.0
Great Sandy		20		
Desert	4.9	78	44.6	14.2
Source: ABS Census	s of Population and Ho	using.		

Table C2. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Broome andKununurra Indigenous Regions, 2006

Adjusted count						
		of 15-54				
ι	Jnemployment	year olds not			Full-time	e/private
Indigenous area	rate	employed		Emp/pop	6	emp/pop
	Nar	rogin Indigenous I	Region			
Moore		18.8	146		47.0	21.8
Northam		31.9	210		32.0	12.3
Avon		25.2	290		37.3	12.6
Campion		22.9	194		36.5	11.5
Narrogin		14.6	114		43.2	12.1
Hotham/Lakes		20.9	180		42.8	10.5
Katanning		20.8	128		40.9	11.6
Pallinup		17.7	128		46.7	9.9
Albany		13.0	369		39.6	13.6
King		24.3	59		35.0	17.2
Busselton		16.8	96		53.3	22.6
Mandurah		20.2	288		43.8	21.4
Bunbury		15.7	342		46.1	18.5
Collie		14.3	78		48.4	16.4
Harvey		12.2	102		53.4	23.9
Murray/Waroona/						
Boddington		18.0	107		42.9	12.2
South-West		8.6	206		56.9	27.9
	South	Hedland Indigeno	us Region			
Port Hedland		16.7	654		46.1	22.9
Karratha		12.1	219		60.2	31.3
Roebourne excl. Karra	itha	21.0	621		28.2	9.3
Exmouth/Ashburton		11.2	196		56.8	24.5
Jigalong		58.6	149		15.3	6.1
East Pilbara		12.9	429		48.5	11.8
	De	erby Indigenous R	eaion			
Fitzroy Crossing		1.5	138		64.0	10.3
Bayulu		0.0	48		64.6	2.2
Yungngora		0.0	61		68.9	32.9
Looma		4.5	157		35.9	10.3
Mowanium		4.3	66		56.4	18.0
Fitzroy River		1.8	155		70.4	5.2
Derby-West Kimberley	y Bal	2.4	58		66.7	7.8
Halls Creek North-We	st	2.3	46		74.0	2.4
Wyndham-East Kimbe	erley					
Far-West		0.0	13		64.9	10.7
Source: ABS Census of Population and Housing.						

Table C3. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Narrogin, SouthHedland and Derby Indigenous Regions, 2006

		Adjusted count					
		of 15-54					
	Unemployment	year olds not		Full-time/private			
Indigenous area	rate	employed	Emp/pop	emp/pop			
Kalgoorlie Indigenous Region							
Laverton	2.9	94	53.2	13.5			
Leonora	5.9	56	53.3	23.0			
Kalgoorlie/							
Boulder	16.9	858	41.9	18.1			
Coolgardie	9.2	104	54.7	23.9			
Esperance	26.9	275	36.5	14.1			
Warburton							
Community	1.5	164	56.6	0.9			
Ngaanyatjarraku							
excl. Warburton	3.6	162	56.9	3.0			
Wiluna	8.9	114	43.6	9.9			
Kalgoorlie							
Indigenous							
Region Bal	11.6	103	46.7	11.0			
	Gera	Ildton Indigenous R	Region				
Geraldton	25.8	734	39.5	14.8			
Northern							
Agricultural	15.9	162	43.1	14.6			
Carnarvon	9.7	367	44.8	18.1			
Upper Gascoyne/							
Shark Bay	8.0	57	64.0	20.5			
Meekatharra	22.5	187	38.8	11.2			
Carnegie South	15.9	127	44.6	11.3			
Greenough	16.8	415	31.8	13.3			
Mullewa	17.1	92	45.3	20.0			
Source: ABS Census	of Population and Hou	using.					

Table C4. Select employment variables by Indigenous Area for Kalgoorlie andGeraldton Indigenous Regions, 2006